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SENATOR DEAN FLOREZ:  Okay, let’s go ahead and begin.  Thank you for coming, number one.  This is the Senate Committee on Governmental Organization.  We have an information hearing today.  The title of it, all of you know, “California at Risk, Are We Prepared For A Super Bug Outbreak?”  I’d like to thank the staff particularly, for putting together a very, very good and thorough witness list.  I’d like to thank our State Auditor, Elaine Howle, early, because I know that we’re having emails as late in the evening and early this morning.  I know she’s under the weather, so I’m going to try to keep many of my questions today to State Auditor as brief as possible, and LAO, as well.  And I’d like to get into some of the experts.  It’s really the name of the game today.  
This is a nice time for us to convene, particularly the committee’s oversight function, as you know, is emergency preparedness.  We’ve dabbled in all sorts of issues in terms of are we prepared in the event of, and this is one of those.  And in many cases, the committee’s jurisdiction extends anything from airport security, if you will, or large scale outbreaks of this sort.  This is something that we really would like to cover a lot of ground on today.  And obviously it’s been about 60 years since the first antibiotic penicillin was discovered, and yet many doctors, obviously, have prescribed many antibiotics for everything from pneumonia to scarlet fever.  
However, we do know that many of our, these germs are becoming resistant to antibiotics.  These super bugs, or multi-drug resistant organisms, what we call MRSA, we’ll be calling MRSA all day today, were primarily found at hospitals, but now they seem to be appearing in schools, in many cases in the community at large, and many regions outside California.  And the question really is in California are we really prepared if in the event something like that happening.  

We do have a few statistics from the Center for Disease Control.  In 2005 about 94,000 people developed MRSA infections in the U.S.  Of those people, about 20 percent died.  And to put that in perspective, that means more people died in that particular year than died of HIV/AIDS, Parkinson’s disease, or emphysema.  And so it’s not something to be taken lightly.  It is something that we should obviously focus on.  

It can also tell you that one of the things that we found in preparation for this hearing is that we, sometimes impossible to know how often the cases of MRSA occurring particularly in our schools because of staph infections and these types of infections, because they’re not considered reportable illnesses and are not tracked in many cases by local and state public health officials.  That’s for us a somewhat an inadequate system.  We hope to change that.  I believe Valley Fever is reportable issue, but yet MRSA isn’t, and it’s something that we, obviously want to look at.

If you want to know the extent of the questions that we’re seeking to resolve or at least delve into today, obviously, the first is what is the extent of the public health risk from MRSA particularly as it poses threats to California citizens?  And is it of proportions that the Senate and the state and this committee should focus on it a little more?  I also obviously, in preparation for the hearing, we know that there’s been some significant policies in other states.  States have gone so far as to pass laws.  Countries have implemented policies beyond even the United States that reduce the incidence of MRSA infections and the question of the day, obviously is, the title of the hearing, and that is, is our state’s response at this point in time as compared with those states and other countries, is it adequate?  And hopefully we can delve into that quite a bit.  
I know that we have had some opportunities, at least in the Legislature to move in a direction that would at least give us some resources in this endeavor.  We were a little troubled that the Governor vetoed funding and staff positions for a newly created hospital infection control program.  I believe that veto ultimately delayed the implementation of the infection control program by at least a year, and depending on future budget actions that are yet to be upcoming in our, in the Governor’s budget in January, we’ll be watching that very carefully as relates to this issue, as well.
Today, as I mentioned, we’re here to listen to independent examiners, state and local response agencies, private and volunteer partners, and obviously, we’re all here to talk about the capabilities of the State of California in terms of recommending policy shifts and changes so we can prevent and prepare for and respond much better from a public health emergency point of view.  

With that, let’s go ahead and begin.  And if we could have our first panel which is our independent third party assessments.  We have Elaine Howle, State Auditor; and Michelle Baass, senior fiscal policy analyst, public health, Legislative Analyst’s Office.  Thank you, both, for being here.  Very much appreciate it.  Well, Ms. Howle, since we’ve drug you here, and thanks for coming.

MS. ELAINE HOWLE:  You bet.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And I very much appreciate it.  I think the, obviously, both of your offices have taken a look at our public health systems and our state’s preparedness in terms of addressing public health crises.  And there have been a lot of recommendations offered.  I’d like to, if I could, ask you to go over what you think are the highlights of some of those reports, and then I’d like to get your assessment on, in terms of where you think we’re at, what we need to do better, and ultimately, what we need to be doing, particularly with MRSA.  If you can get to those questions, and then we’ll, I’ll have a few follow up questions after that.
MS. HOWLE:  Okay, thank you, Senator.  For the record, my name’s Elaine Howle.  I’m the California State Auditor.  And what I intended to do, Senator Florez, is speak to two audits that we conducted.  One was issued in August of 2005 and that was specifically related to the State of California and its preparedness for responding to infectious disease emergencies.  And then we also conducted an audit that we issued in 2006, September of 2006, and that was specifically related to the state being able to respond to bioterrorism events and again, looking at how well were we prepared and also looking at the administration of some federal grants for Homeland Security.
So, what I intend to do is go through what, we had five key findings, actually, in each report.  I’ll present those findings, what our specific recommendation was, and then as you are aware, but perhaps the audience doesn’t know, after the State Auditor’s office issues a report, we receive responses from the various entities that we’ve audited at intervals, 60 days, six months, and one year.  So since these audits, as I said, one was issued in August of ’05, I’ll be presenting the one year response for that report and then the second audit that was issued in September of ’06, we have received the one year response on that one, so I’ll be able to give you a, some updated information there. 
What we also now do under legislation that was enacted essentially this year, is there’s legislation that Senator Speier authored before she left which requires us now, after the one-year window, to notify those departments that we believe have not fully implemented the recommendations that they haven’t implemented them and that we’d like a response.  So, I will have some supplemental information related to a few recommendations that we believe still need to be implemented and what their departments have reported to us as recently as this past month.

So again, the first audit that we issued was in August of 2005, and it was on emergency preparedness, and basically the result of the audit, the title of the report, “More Needs To Be Done to Improve California’s Preparedness for Responding to Infectious Disease Emergencies”.  One concern, one key finding that we had was related to some critical plans.  The State of California has an emergency plan that OES puts together, but within that plan there were references to other critical plans in the State of California.  Two of those plans had not been updated for quite some time.  One is the disaster medical response plan.  That was last issued at that time when we conducted the audit in 1992.  So it was 13 years old at that time.  
And then the medical mutual aid plan, we had even more concern about that—had last been issued in 1974.  So, of course, our recommendation is we need to get these plans updated to more current status.  Certainly a lot of things have happened in 15, 20, 30 years.  
In the one year response, Emergency Medical Services Agency which was responsible for making sure these plans were updated indicated, and this is October of ’06, that they had completed initial drafts of these plans, and as of  December of ’06 they were circulating those drafts for review and comment, and intended to forward it to OES so they could take a look at it.  But, we sent out a letter to EMSA asking them under our authority under SB 1452, okay, it’s exceeded the one year.  Where are we now?  So we received the response from EMSA this August indicating the plans were still being reviewed.  So certainly we have concerns related to those two plans, because we conducted the audit, issued the report in August of 1005, it’s two years later, August, 2007.  We’re pleased that they have developed drafts of those plans, but certainly have concern that why have those plans not been completely reviewed and finalized?  So that was one key finding.  

We also looked at the Department of Health Services and specifically related to exercises and post-follow up after exercises.  And what we had concern about is that the Department of Health Services did not have a tracking method for following up on any recommendations that came out of after action reports which are reports that are prepared after an exercise which basically tells the various entities that participated what worked, what didn’t work, where do we need to improve?  And a tracking process will allow the Department to make sure that those corrective actions that were identified via the exercise in the after action report are actually being completed, those corrective actions are being, are taking place.
In the response to us in October of ’06, the one year response, and actually during the course of the audit, the Department did develop a policy that they needed to establish a tracking mechanism and in their October, ’06, response they did assert to us that they have developed a tool specifically for tracking these recommendations to make sure that they are followed up on and corrective action has been taken.

The third finding was related to these cooperative agreements that the State of California has with Centers for Disease Control and then the other one is the HRSA, these two different grants.  And these cooperative agreements have various benchmarks, or guidelines that are provided by the federal government.  And we had some concerns as to whether or not the State of California Health Services had met some of those critical benchmarks.  They had met most of them, but there were a couple that we had some concerns about.  And our recommendation to the Department was to make sure that the contractor, during course of the audit they indicated to us that they had actually hired a contractor more to look at the local level, because Health Services is responsible for making sure that local entities that receive some of these monies through these cooperative agreements are complying with the guide, the federal guidance.  So Health Services did indicate that they hired a contractor, Health Officers Association of California, to do an assessment of public health departments out at the local level, and that that report would be completed by the end of December, but, when--the end of December, ’06.  So when they responded to us at the one year mark, October, ’06, they did indicate that they needed to extend that contract.  The contractor needed more time.  
In the August, recent August, 2007, response they did indicate the contractors completed their work, and it’s my understanding that there has been a report that has been issued.  We’ve attempted to get a copy of that.  We haven’t received it, yet, but have been in contact with the Department so that we can get a copy of that report to take a look at it.  So they have taken some corrective action in those areas.
Another area that we had some concern about is the amount of time it was taking to get the monies out to the locals and the expenditures at the state level, as well.  What we were finding was not a very high percentage of those dollars being either obligated or actually being used.  So we had some recommendations related to that.  And that will be consistent in the second report that we issue.  

Now we did do some work at the local levels.  We went to five public health departments, those, that was Los Angeles County, Sacramento County, Santa Clara, Sutter, and San Bernardino.  And what we were looking for there is the same type of elements, planning, exercising, follow up, making sure we’re doing after action reports, are we making sure that we’re tracking corrective action.  And we had a couple of findings related to local public health departments.  First we didn’t see written procedures again for following up on recommendations, similar to the concern we had at the state level.  We didn’t see the locals making sure that they had a process to make sure that what they had learned from exercises, because they were exercising.  We found good plans.  We felt that they were implementing those plans, but we really did feel that there needed to be that final step, that final piece of the process for making sure that after we do exercise, that we have a mechanism again to track follow up and make sure that we take correction action, because those exercises are beneficial, but certainly, it’s important to make sure that we do the best we can to implement any corrective action or anything that needs to be improved.  

One of the suggestions we did have in the recommendation was that these after action reports should be completed within 90 days.  There is not a state requirement related to exercises.  Now there is a section of the California Code of Regulations that requires an after action report to be completed within 90 days after an incident or an actual event.  But, there is not comparable criteria for exercises.  But, we thought the 90-day window was important, because in the course of conducting this audit, we found that, yes, they were exercising, but the after action reports were being completed, five, six, upwards of seven months afterwards.  And that’s just too long to try and recall everything that went well, and certainly the things that we had concerns about or, you know, the entities that participated identified as areas where they needed to improve.

In the responses that were received from the five health departments, they indicated that they have developed procedures for following up on after action reports and they did endorse within the 90 days.  They did agree that that was an important time frame and so we felt that the local health departments, at least the five that we visited, did take corrective action in this particular area.  

The other, the last finding in this specific report, again, was related to those critical benchmarks in the cooperative agreements.  And we found that the public health departments that we visited did not, had not implemented or completed all of the benchmarks.  They had completed the majority of them, but there were a few that had not been completed.  So, certainly the recommendation is we’ve got to make sure we complete those benchmarks.  The risk of not completing the benchmarks is that funding could be restricted by the federal government.  And we actually had a circumstance in the report, there were some restrictions put on the state had some conversations with the federal government and got that restriction removed, but we certainly don’t want to get ourselves in a situation where funding is restricted, because we’re not meeting these benchmarks.  There were different benchmarks at different counties and I have the report if you need specifics, but you know, so we received responses from all of the counties.  
L.A. and Sacramento reported to us they had completed all of the critical benchmarks because there was only one or two that they needed to finish.  Santa Clara, again, this is in October, ’06, reported that they had completed, they only had one outstanding benchmark that they needed to meet.  And then San Bernardino had three, and as of October, ’06, they reported they had completed two of the three.  And then Sutter County was the final county and in their October, ’06, response to us, they indicated they were still working on.  And again, it wasn’t a significant number.  It was probably three or four benchmarks, but again, really need to pay attention to those, because we don’t want to jeopardize funding.
So those were the five key findings in the report, recommendations in the status, again, as of October, ’06, for the majority of those recommendations, the one related to the plans, the disaster response plan and the medical mutual aid plan, that is more current.  That’s as of August of this year.
So the second audit that we conducted we issued in September of ’06, and this one was more at the state level and looking at the state’s administration of federal grants for Homeland Security and also bioterrorism preparedness.  One of the things that we looked and the first finding that we had was related to the exercises.  These annual statewide exercises we felt and others, actually, opined to us that they had not sufficiently tested California’s medical and health systems.  And in fact, the 2005 statewide exercise, the number of casualties that was indicated was at a low end of the range.  ____ recalling some of this.  And when we looked at, there aren’t necessarily national standards, but there are some guidelines and casualties in the range of 250 to 10,000 was considered at the low end of a moderate size emergency.  And certainly in California we may have a significantly higher numbers than those.  

What we also noted in that related to that was there was not good cooperation or coordination between Homeland Security and OES.  We actually found evidence that State Homeland Security received a letter from OES saying that these exercises needed to be more realistic, more meaningful.  There was inadequate integration of the SIM system.  So the locals had concerns.  They felt that some of the exercises in Golden Guardian in ’05 were confusing.  They were frustrated.  So we suggested to OES and Homeland Security that they need to work together to develop future exercises, make sure that those exercises actually sufficiently our, not only our response system, but our medical and health systems specifically.  
In the one year response which is dated September of ’07, OES indicated that they had been working with statewide medical and health, and Homeland Security to develop a plan that was broader and that included local entities and they were getting feedback.  Their intent at that time was to implement a program at the end of this calendar year.  We did receive, we followed up with them and in November last month, we received another response saying that they had completed development of it and they intended to have these regional conferences with state and locals, but they, in December, but they had to reschedule it because of the fires.  They have rescheduled those for January, 2008.  So it has, there has been progress made in putting together better statewide exercises.  
And we think that the actually the 2006 exercise was the first time, you know, we looked at the 2005 when we conducted the audit--2006 they had already taken some of our suggestions to heart and had more hospitals participate in the 2006 exercise.  They had a higher number of injuries, so they had made progress.  And again, in their more recent response as I indicated, we think they’ve even made more progress as far as putting together a better plan for exercises and having a broader participation in those exercises.  
The second finding is related to, again, spending of federal dollars.  We had concerns here because as of June, 2006, OES and Homeland Security had only spent 42 percent of the dollars that had been awarded to the State of California.  There were a variety of reasons that were offered not only at the state level, but also at the local level.  One of the problems was the reimbursement process.  It’s on a reimbursement basis as opposed to advancing the funds.  So when we looked at OES and Homeland Security as far as what they could do to reduce the processing time for some of these reimbursement claims, they really did focus on that, because we were saying it was upwards of 66, 70 days before a local entity could get reimbursed, and that’s, that creates a fiscal constraint for a local entity.  And in their OES and Homeland Security report to us in September of this year that they have focused on that.  They’ve worked on it and they’ve brought that processing down, time down to about an average of 35 days.  The goal is to get it down to about 30 days which is comparable to our prompt payment act, prompt payment requirements in California.  
The other suggestion that we had is to create some forums with the locals to understand some of the other constraints or some of the other issues that perhaps are getting in the way of locals asking for more money or locals spending the money as quickly as possible in the State of California reviewing applications and getting those grants awarded to the locals.  
What State Homeland Security reported to us in September of ’07 is that they have created forums for first responders, administrators at this local level to try and share best practices, identify concerns, and hopefully come up with solutions to improve the speed at which, you know, those federal monies are being used.  And again, the concern is we don’t want federal dollars—there’s a certain window of time that we’re allowed to, you know, encumber and spend federal dollars.  And we don’t want to lose that and have to go back to the federal government as we have in the past and ask for extensions.  So, that’s that issue.

The third finding is related to emergency response plans.  The Office of Emergency Services has a policy, or at the time we conducted the audit, had a policy that they would receive and review emergency response plans from all of the 58 counties, but unfortunately, we found when we conducted the work, that they had failed to receive and review 35 of California’s 58 counties.  Some of those were very populous counties like Los Angeles, San Diego, San Francisco.  It’s not a state requirement.  It’s a policy that OES has established, but they established it for a reason and we felt if, you know, those plans need to make, OES needs to review those plans to make sure they’re in alignment with the state’s emergency plan, so that we’re all kind of on the same page and we believe that they established, it’s a good policy.  They need to make sure they enforce it.

The other concern we had is there are some key critical state agencies and OES, at the time we conducted the audit couldn’t even tell us the last time we had reviewed some of the state’s plans.  And some of those departments were CHP, Military Department, CalTrans, which are key responders in dealing with, you know, a statewide emergency, particularly the roadways, etcetera, our public safety with CHP.  

So our recommendation is to ensure that emergency plans of key state agencies and local governments are up to date, you know.  OES needs to develop a system to track who they’ve received these plans from, how quickly they can get these plans reviewed and back to the entities so that they can make whatever modifications to the plan, make sure all of these plans are in alignment with what the state’s plan intends to accomplish.
In September of ’07, OES responded to us.  They indicated that they have established a data base to track the plans and any planning related documents of not only the state agencies, but also local agencies.  Some of the attributes they indicated are included in the database is the actual adoption date of the plan, the dates of required or advised updates and the status of any plans that are under development or being reviewed.  So some good milestones that they’re including in the database.  

In their response, they indicated that it was operational as of September, as of this year, so they’re in the process of populating that database, so, you know, over time, hopefully we’ll see that that database is beneficial and that they’ll review these plans certainly more frequently than they were in the past.
Another finding was related to monitoring of grants.  This was specific to the Department of Health Services.  There was a statute that was enacted in statutes of 2005.  And what it required the Department of Health Services to do is to conduct onsite monitoring of sub recipients for federal dollars.  And they needed to have this implemented by January of 2007.  And in their September ’07 response to us, it’s under the Department of Public Health now, they’re indicating that they’ve developed audit protocols, audit programs for auditing sub recipients.  They indicate in their response that in February of this year, February ’07, they had begun conducting audits of local health departments and at that time, they were using existing audit staff, but they intended to try and fill some—they had three positions that were authorized by the Legislature for the fiscal year, ‘07/’08 budget.  So as of September of ’07, they indicated they were still trying to fill those positions.  So that seems to be progressing, but certainly, I think it would be important for them to fill those positions so they can have some folks dedicated to going out and auditing the local entities.

The last finding was related to the structure of the state’s preparedness.  And this is specifically related to roles and responsibilities.  You have OES and you have State Homeland Security.  There were a variety of various committees that have been created and there seem to be confusion or concern at the local level and certainly at the state level, who’s in charge in certain situations, who’s in charge of planning, who’s in charge of response.  I think everyone agrees OES is in charge of response, but there certainly was some concern as far as who do we go to for advice related to grants, etcetera.  
So our suggestion was to simplify and clarify the structure.  We made a suggestion to the Legislature to consider streamlining the structure, consider establishing either one entity responsible for preparedness and then if that is the direction that the state wanted to go, the Legislature, then statutorily have to define that.  And it’s our understanding that there was a bill that was introduced, ABC 38, and it was intended to clarify some of the organizational responsibilities.  It’s also my understanding that the bill has made it through the Assembly and it’s going to hit the Senate this year.  So it’s ended up as a two year bill.  But, as of this past week, it was still pending in the Senate, so I assume that it will be taken up when the Legislature returns.

So those were the key findings in the second report that we issued in September of 2006.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Let’s, if we could, go through a few points you’ve made just so we can get an update from the committee.
MS. HOWLE:  Sure.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  The disaster medical response plan, you mentioned, and also the medical mutual aid plan, bottom line, is it, are we up to date at all, where we should be or not?

MS. HOWLE:  We’re not.  I mean, we have concerns, because we conducted that audit in August of 2005.  At that time, one plan was 30 years old.  The other plan was 15 years old.  And as recently as August of ’07 they have indicated that they’ve modified the plans and updated them, but they have not been finalized.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, and just from maybe an opinion point of view given the two audits, I mean, what are the consequences for not having updated plans?

MS. HOWLE:  Well, certainly planning is a critical element of preparedness.  And not having these two plans are very specific to medical and health responses, and the state’s emergency plan referred to these plans and indicated that these are the plans that would be used to respond to emergencies caused by an epidemic or infestation or some particular type of event.  So if we don’t have a finalized plan, then perhaps not everyone knows exactly how we should be responding to a particular event.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Right, and I think that’s the, again, the name of, the purpose of the hearing is to try to instill some confidence a bit, that we have a coherent, seamless plan.  And this is that right opportunity to see if we can re-piece the things that the committee needs to go back to the administration and say, follow up.  And we do look forward to the January 15th release of your report, and we look forward to hopefully having hearing, big hearing, on all of the things that we have to do, still catch up on in terms of those reports.
I do think that one of the things we are always concerned up from the state is by in essence not having updated plans, are we in essence, hurting ourselves for federal aid or the other types of funding that we so desperately need in this kind of a budget crunch year?

MS. HOWLE:  Well, I think it could tie to jeopardizing federal funding, because you want to make sure that you have appropriate plans in place and that you have appropriate protocols in place, so that you’re meeting the various benchmarks or the guidelines that the federal government is putting out as far as the use of these grants.  Your planning process should be an integral part of that.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of the adequacy of the plans that you’ve mentioned, is there any minimum standard for those plans, or is there a baseline as you begin to look at some of these plans?  And I’m not necessarily talking about the county plans the state is reviewing, but just from a state perspective.  Did we, in essence, examine, as you went through the processes of putting those plans together, is there things that we should be doing better, or is there some baselines that the Legislature should be asking for?

MS. HOWLE:  Boy, you know, off the top of my head, Senator, I can’t recall whether we specifically looked at the adequacy of the plans and what elements should be in there that perhaps may or may not—
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, I’ll ask the Administration, maybe the Administration in terms of coordination, testing realistic scenarios you’ve mentioned.  We’d had a couple of hearings now with you and the issue of catastrophic types of events versus, you know, testing at levels  that, you know, one would say or could be dealt with on a county by county basis.  But the mutual aid issue, having those county plans.  Having not 30 of the 58 plans, if you will, in a database, but seeing that they work seamlessly somehow in a mutual aid perspective is something that we’re concerned with.  Because obviously, when you have recommendations that you’ve mentioned in the disaster medical response plan and the medical mutual aid plans that are 30 years old or 15 years old out of date.  You know, that is of concern.  That should be of concern for everyone, because it means that we’re really not prepared.  Or either that or we have a very lackadaisical attitude when it comes to MRSA, for example, for at least today’s perspective that it’s just, in essence, one of those things that we’ll get to.  But, I think that’s, by the time we always get to these things, it’s too late.  And I think that’s kind of the purpose of what we’re trying to ____.
MS. HOWLE:  And I would agree with you, Senator.  I mean, the big concern we had in the report, in the audit that we issued in 2006, was specifically that, as far as if you’re talking about planning as far as how well are we planning the various exercises that the State of California is conducting on an annual basis.  And the two exercises that we looked at, again, we had not only ourselves, but others had some real serious concerns about the sufficiency of those exercises.  One of the exercises didn’t include any counties from Southern California, so as far as the planning, we need to do a better job of planning our exercises, so that we are realistically testing how well the mutual aid systems work, and how well the coordination between the locals an the State of California and the federal government for that matter, is working.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well that’s why I like the discussion you had on the 90 days at least gives some sort of benchmark that, you know, at the end of these exercises we exercises we have some idea that they were  test reviewed and we have some feedback on them and that they actually are working.  I think now the standard is every two years it seems or something of that sort for some of these, according to the old plans.  And I think trying to make that a bit tighter would be great.  
Let me ask a question on the local health department preparedness, because the audit made mention that health services had been somewhat slow as you mentioned and spending funds for cooperative agreements.  We’re better at that than we were or not?

MS. HOWLE:  Well, we haven’t gone back into evaluate how much of the money has been expended.  What I was indicating in my comments is they have responded to some of our suggestions as far as creating forums and talking with the locals and trying to come up with—first of all, identify some of the constraints or the hurdles for expending or using the funds as quickly as perhaps we should.  So we think there’s been progress made from that perspective, but we haven’t gone back into doing assessment of, okay, when we conducted the audit you were at 42 percent.  Where are we now and where are we with more recent grants that the State of California has received?  Has any money reverted?  Because when we conducted this audit back in ’06, there was concern that there was going to be some funding lost and reverted.  The state ended up negotiating with the feds, getting an extension, but we can’t keep going back to the federal government and saying, oh, we need another extension and another extension.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yeah, and I think that seems to be the, one of the patterns that we’re concerned with and we have.  We only have 61 local health departments and at least the audit at that point in time talked about having 39 or so of these departments being completed by July of ’06.  I would imagine they would all be done by now and that we would have an opportunity to, in essence, not revert money back.  Do we know all those plans have been completed?
MS. HOWLE:  In their response to us, they did not indicate whether or not they had evaluated all 61, but certainly that’s important information to have.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s ask, if I could, just ask a few questions on the Golden Guardian exercise that you mentioned.  The overall expectation from a couple of hearings I think we’ve had is that these exercises are supposed to incorporate particularly large, or much larger samples.  You mentioned that that’s put off now ‘til January of ’08.  Is that, in essence?
MS. HOWLE:  Right.  And the response to our SB 1452 letter which came in, I think, in November just last month, they indicated that they intended to have the plan in place and the program in place as of this month, December ’07.  But in their response they indicated that they had to reschedule that because of the fires in Southern California.  They had to deal with that.  So they have indicated that they’ve completed their strategy and their plan, but they need to hold regional conferences with state and locals and those will be scheduled in January.  I don’t know when they actual exercises will take place.  So there has been some delay.

But, again, I would hope that the plan for 2008 addresses making sure that we’re stressing the system, you know, as sufficiently as we can, they’re as realistic as possible, and that they include medical and health mutual aid which was the concern that we identified in 2005.  Those elements were not included and that was a significant weakness.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yeah, and I guess the ____ probably ask LAO this, but in terms of the delay of the Golden Guardian exercises incorporating those very large health, catastrophic types of events, it seems that by having conferences and getting folks together in January and February that we’re still a ways off from the actual exercise occurring.  And I think if you go back to the 2005 audit, I mean, that’s telling us, do the exercise, do it and include this.  And so now we’ve gone from 2005 to now late 2008 if not 2009 in my mind in terms of actually running the exercise.  And that’s of concern, because it seems as though we’ve had sufficient time to pull those parties together and really test things such as MRSA, for example, or other types of staph infections into the model, and at this point in time, it doesn’t seem that we’re there.

The Homeland Security spending, you mentioned about 42 percent at some point in time—how do we keep track of that from a Legislature point of view in terms of money really being spent and departments really implementing some of these?  It’s kind of the way we monitor, that if we’re not forfeiting money to the federal government, we’re at least spending it in ways that are in essence, implementing the ultimate goal for these types of things.  How do we measure that from your perspective?
MS. HOWLE:  Well, I think the way to measure that is to require the departments to report periodically to the Legislature where we’re at on the various grants, and how much has been expended, how much has actually been encumbered or committed to something, and then how much is outstanding.  I don’t know how often the Legislature would be interested in that.  Perhaps quarterly, because some of the grants are, you know, they cover a three year window.  Maybe you want to do it every six months, but what I would do is ask those departments on a periodic basis to report the status of the, you know, there’s a variety of grants, too.  So they could put a schedule together for you similar to what we did in the audit report.  We actually created some tables that, here’s this grant that was awarded at this time, here’s the time frame we have, here’s where we’re at as far as how much money.  And here’s when this grant expires and you know, you’ll be able to see, okay is it a significant amount of money, and how realistic is it for us to be able to expend those dollars within six months or nine months or whatever.  So some kind of periodic reporting of schedules by the two, I think OES and OHS. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The last thing I have in terms of the audit mentioned that the California Department of Health Services hadn’t finalized its onsite reviews of sub recipients, and there was a due date of that, I believe, there were begin, supposed to begin that of January of ’07 which was early this year.  Do we know whether or not they met the goal of initiating audits in January of 2007?
MS. HOWLE:  They indicated in their response to us they started those audits in February.  What I don’t know, based on the response, is how many of those audits they’ve actually conducted.  As they indicated in their response, they’re using existing staff and I don’t know how many.  I think it was only one or two people.  So I think a fair question is asking the department, okay, you set it up, started in February.  Did you establish a schedule and where are you as far as, if your schedule was to audit all of them by the end of the calendar year, where are we at?  Are you going to meet that or are you not going to meet that?  But, their response, and again, and as you know the majority of responses we get from the department, it’s all assertions.  We do follow up on some.  We’ve started that process this last year, and that’s been, I think, an important element of the work that we do now.  
The other thing I wanted to mention is as part of SB 1452, we can follow up and ask department, tell departments, you know what?  You’ve asserted these things and we’re going to come in and verify on behalf of the Legislature as to whether or not this has actually taken place. 

The other option that we have, as well, that we’re contemplating for this next year depending upon the nature of the work that comes to us through the audit committee is we have statutory authority.  We have a high risk program that we’ve established.  We are required under, again, legislation for senators, from Senator Speier to establish a high risk program in California and basically what that does is we issued our first report this year which identified high risk areas for the Legislature and the Administration and others to pay attention to.  Emergency preparedness was one of those issue areas.   What that legislation allows us to do is to self initiate audits, certainly after we notify the Legislature, Joint Legislative Budget Committee, Audit Committee, we have the resources to do it, and we believe, you know, emergency preparedness is an important area, so we may decide to conduct what we call a high risk audit this year.  So we could couple some of the follow up on these two audits with a high risk audit and scope it that way.   So that’s another option that we certainly could consider for this next year.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, I think, given some of the, from my viewpoint, some of the lax standards that we’ve had in terms of meeting deadlines here.  We may ask for that.  I mean, if probably nothing higher in public’s mind than making sure that we, from an emergency preparedness point of view, are prepared.  And whether it be public health or other types of natural disasters, I mean, the issue can’t be after the fact saying we’re going to convene a task force and they’re going to figure it out and come back to us and tell us what to do.  I think the issue is whether or not our current plans took into account the necessary things that should have been done.  And it’s, you know, it’s the goal of it is never point backwards and say you should have done it.  This is the point of this is that let’s get is right so we can follow a book, a play book, if you will, and go forward.  

I will let you know, Ms. Howle, that we have asked to do a hearing on the 15th for many portions your report, and we look forward to hopefully seeing you then.  So the date of your release or the day after.

MS. HOWLE:  You’re going to make me work over the holidays.  That’s what that’s telling me.  No, that’s fine.  I’m thrilled to hear that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Give you a heads up on that.  And we’ve asked Senator Perata to approve that hearing.  Hopefully will and we’ll see you then.  And I’m going to excuse you, because I know you’re under the weather and we’re going to turn to the LAO and appreciate the testimony.

MS. HOWLE:  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, Ms. Baass, thank you for joining us.  And I asked Ms. Howle a question regarding the audits of the actual sub recipients.  And at some point in time I’d like you to touch on that.  But, go ahead and go through your testimony and we’ll get back to that, as well.
MS. MICHELLE BAASS:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Michelle Baass, Legislative Analyst’s Office, and I cover public health issues for our office.  We’ve been asked to provide an overview of state and local government responsibilities in regards to emergency preparedness, to touch on some of our recommendations on this topic, and to highlight some key findings from a recent assessment of local health departments’ status in regards to emergency preparedness.  And this is the report that Ms. Howle referenced in her testimony.  It came out, I think, some time in November.

So many agencies at the state and local levels are involved in California’s public health disease outbreak prevention and response programs.  At the state level, the primary agencies responsible are the Department of Public Health and the Emergency Medical Services Authority.  At the local level, the primary agencies are the local public and environmental health departments, emergency medical services, public health laboratories, hospitals and other health related agencies.  

The 2007-8 Budget Act includes about 13 million general fund in assistance to local health departments to assist in providing health care during an emergency and to prepare for emergency response.  In 2006-7 the state made a significant investment in this area and included about 190 million in state funding, most of it which was general, one time to the department and EMSA to make additional hospital beds and supplies available in case of emergency.  It’s referred to as the surge capacity to strengthen the public health laboratories and to conduct local planning to respond to these outbreaks. 
As part of the 2006-7 budget, the Governor included the establishment of the Health Care Infection Control Program.  And this program was intended to address hospital and health care associated infections in communities and specifically for infections that where infection control is the primary method of prevention.  It is estimated that approximately one third of health care acquired infections are preventable through an implementation of an infective program.  And some estimates indicate that 240,000 patients admitted to California hospitals develop some time of hospital acquired infection which results in about $3.1 billion cost to this state.

This proposal was not approved by the Legislature, because at the same time, SB 739 was moving through the Legislature, and this was also a bill that created a health care infection control program.  SB 739 was signed, or passed and signed by the governor, and the purpose of this program was to be able to increase the departments’ response to potential influenza pandemics and other emerging infectious diseases by requiring hospitals to report hospital acquired infections and develop specific protocols to prevent these infections.  However, in the 2007-8 budget, the Governor vetoed funding for this program indicating in his veto message that his intent to delay the implementation due to future budget uncertainties.  

We recommended approval of both the Administration’s—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So what did that do?  The veto, the money.  Did that just enable the program to—

MS. BAASS:  The program was never created, so the funding and the positions were never authorized.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so we create a program, start of the year, and then somewhere in the middle of it, it’s gone.

MS. BAASS:  Right, unless the department—it’s my understanding that the department did not redirect existing resources, but they may have done some redirection to meet some of these program requirements. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And we’re not going to initiative to implement that later, so I’m right.  This is just—we had, create a program, announce it, and then no money after.

MS. BAASS:  That’s correct.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Alright, thanks.

MS. BAASS:  We recommended approval of both Administration’s 2006, seven, and 7-8 budget proposals to create this health care infection control program and fund it, but we recommended that such a program be highly supported by new fees levied on health care facilities.  We found that these facilities would directly benefit from such a program, because their patients would be protected to a greater extent as a result of this program.  
In addition, in 2005 we recommended the department increase its administration oversight of local health departments’ use of the federal grant funding for a public health emergency purposes.  Since 2000, local health departments have received over 300 million in federal funding for these purposes, but the department had not yet conducted any type of on site financial accounting or auditing of these funds.  And as Ms. Howle mentioned, the 2005 budget act required the department to begin auditing local’s use of these funds beginning January first.  It is my understanding that these audits should be released in April, 2008.  

Finally you requested us to present selected findings and recommendations from a recent report regarding local health departments’ ability to respond to bioterrorism or major national disease outbreak.  This report was prepared by the Health Officers Association of California under a contract with the Department of Health Services.  Since this report was recently released as I mentioned earlier, we have not had the opportunity to fully review it, so we’re just presenting some selected findings, and recommendations and have no comments on the report. 
The primary purpose of this project was to assess public health emergency preparedness at local health departments relative to the federal and state guidance that have been issued on these areas, and to see the areas that need improvement.  And the results reflect an assessment of 51 of the 61 local health departments.

Although the report indicates that local health departments have come a long way in regards to these issues, it also highlights areas for improvements.  I plan to touch on just a few of these areas that relate to the spread of infectious diseases and touch on this hearing on super bugs.
So first health care providers and laboratories are required to report certain communicable diseases to local health departments.  However, the assessment found that relatively few local health departments enforce this and rarely issue any citations or penalties.  In some cases, local health departments have to rely on laboratories to report these diseases that are required to be reported by physicians.  The report recommended that local health departments develop a strategy to encourage physicians to submit report forms, to submit these reports that are mandated as physician reportable diseases rather than relying on laboratories.  

Second, in many jurisdictions disease incidents and trend data are not frequently shared with other local health departments in the region, nor with the private medical community as an aid to regional and local surveillance efforts.  The report recommended that local health departments consider the establishments of MOUs with neighboring jurisdictions, and also that the local health departments establish regular meetings with infection control programs at local hospitals.  

Third, while disease incidence reports are prepared, trend analysis is not routinely done in most local health departments, the report states that this is in part due to a lack of training on data analysis methods at the local level.  Furthermore, the vast majority of local health departments do not have in place an electronic management system to monitor case information investigation information ____ cycle of the disease affects the community.  The report recommended that the departments sponsor local or regional training on basic data analysis methods to help the locals better understand and control their data.  
Finally, formal evaluations of surveillance systems have rarely been conducted.  The report recommended that the department develop statewide exercises that focus on a more complete scenarios.  Many of the statewide exercises focus really on just the investigation component and few exercises focus on the complete cycle of surveillance, response, investigation, control, and recovery.  As a result, local health departments’ preparedness to manage large disease outbreaks in a timely manner is not evaluated in a way that gaps can easily be identified.
As these findings and recommendations indicate, there are many improvements that can be made to the state’s public health emergency system.  As a first step, the report recommends the department, the local health departments and other interested parties meet to determine what the priorities are from this recent report so they can deploy resources to address those priorities.  Thank you.  That concludes my remarks.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, great.  Just a couple of questions from LAO’s perspective.  You mention in your testimony that about 1/3 of hospital acquired infections are preventable.  And so I think that’s the name of the game from this committee’s perspective is that we have a, in many cases, some of these are very preventable.  At the same time, our statistics tell us it costs the state about $3.1 billion in direct and indirect costs.  Is that, do you agree with that number in terms of what our yearly cost is in terms of these?
MS. BAASS:  Those are the est—we have not—those are the estimates we’ve seen, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And then you mentioned a veto to save $1.3 million, so we have 3.1 billion a year and we veto 1.3 million to save, you know, I’m just trying to figure out these delays, you know, ultimately, I think somewhat cost us more.  I think it’s one of the reasons Senator Perata’s very wary about taking action ‘til we see what cuts are prior to taking action, because sometimes they have a small cut, has a devastating effect on the long-term perspective of what we’re trying to achieve, particularly in the health care field.  And then, of course, our health care crisis compounds that.  I guess the, if it’s a fair question, I mean, does that make good economic sense to the LAO’s office, I mean, to cut $1.3 million and yet have an outlying overall cost of  $3 billion, I mean, how does one look at it from your perspective?

MS. BAASS:  At this point, we don’t know how effective this particular program may have been.  We do think that in the long run, the savings that could have been offered by this program would have been offset, or the cost of this program, excuse me, would have been offset by the savings in the long run.  But, under our recommendation we could have established this program without affecting the General Fund.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I understand.  And that is the facilities fee that you mentioned earlier?  Okay, we might want to explore that with you a bit as we go forward, because I think that might allow us to get there a bit quicker.  Is there anything in terms of the questions that I’ve asked the State Auditor you might want to make any comment on?  Because if not, that’s, okay, great.  Thank you, both.  Appreciate that.  
Okay, let’s go onto our next panel which is the “Health Care Professionals’ Perspective”.  And we have Carole Moss, founder, Nile’s Project; Christina Cahill, Shannon Oriola, Gil Chavez, and Enid Eck, and Dean Blumberg.  Find a seat somewhere in this and we’ll go from there.  Okay.  Like to start with, obviously, Carole Moss, and I want to, number one, extend our deepest sympathy from the committee and myself to the loss of your son.  And we’d also like to thank you for taking the time to come here and share your experiences with the committee.  And we really would like to hear your personal perspective and it may give the listeners out in the CalChannel and others a better way to understand MRSA particularly.  And then I have some follow-up questions for you and then we’ll go onto some of the other panelists.  So, thank you for being here.

MS. CAROLE MOSS:  Okay, great.  Thank you, so much for addressing this.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And take your time.

MS. MOSS:  Okay, we’re very much focused on California at risk and are we prepared for the next bug outbreak.  Imagine taking your son or your grandchild on a field trip on a Thursday.  And he becomes ill.  In 72 hours he’s saying his goodbyes, and by Monday, he’s gone.  Well, this is what happened to us.  The fact of the matter is that we are in the middle of a super bug outbreak and California is not passing the test.  

Nineteen thousand people died of MRSA in the U.S. in 2005, if you break out the figures that you just discussed.  Why are we just now, two, three months ago, finding out about this?  Nineteen thousand people.  Why did we not hear about the toll when it was 200 or 500?  Where is our national alert system?  What would the Department of Homeland Security say at this obvious failure of security for our nation’s people?

My name is Carole Moss and I am the founder of Nile’s Project MRSA.  I am also the single voting member representing consumers on the Governor’s appointed Hospital Acquired Infection Advisory Committee, SB 739.  There are a total of 29 voting members, most representing their employers, hospitals, and hospital associations.  Nile’s Project MRSA, a non-profit coalition made up of musicians and artists and other organizations all focused on preventing unnecessary deaths through raising awareness, education, and of infection prevention.  
Our volunteers are in the community.  We’re talking with youth groups and seniors and victims of MRSA.  We perform at jazz concerts and shopping malls.  We talk with students in high schools that are concerned.   Each, and health classes teaching about MRSA, both hospital and community acquired, providing them with useful infection prevention information that they can use and share with their friends.

We began our organization just a few months after the death of our young son Nile Calvin Moss, 15 years of age, on April 17, 2007.  Nile’s death certificate reads he died of sepsis, massive organ failure, and pneumonia.  Two days after Nile’s death, we learned that the bug that started it all was MRSA.  We had never heard of this ever.  We felt as though it was time to share what we thought to learn over this year in the most unexpected death.  Afterall, only three weeks prior to Nile’s death, he had just been given a clean bill of health after completing his annual series of tests which included visiting three of the top hospitals in Orange County: Children’s Hospital of Orange, UCI Medical Center, and CHOC at Mission Viejo.  His doctors were incredibly proud and impressed with his progress.  
Nile, an honor student, a musician, and an artist, and an entertainer, and a lover of life.  Who would have thought in a million years that he would die within 48 hours of the first signs of the flu?  We’d never been told, be careful, watch out.  Nearly two million people, go into hospitals every year and get infections.  We learned later that virtually all the health care professionals we worked with were aware of this clear and present danger of MRSA, and other hospital acquired infections.  And yet, not one of them spoke up for Nile.  Not one ever warned us.  Not until the media hit a couple of months ago did our health department craft a handout to provide MRSA information to schools, even on the most recent California Department of Public Health MRSA handout, you will not see the mention of the most deadly MRSA that attacks the respiratory system.  It looks just like the flu.  
Are we prepared to stop this super bug outbreak?  The vast majority of Californians are unaware of community acquired MRSA or MRSA or other hospital acquired infections, unless they have been touched by a tragedy or infected themselves, most do not know that MRSA can be deadly.  On the 13th of April, I accompanied Nile on a field trip.  I walked into his classroom just in time to hear them warning announcements on the overhead.  I listened, stunned, one by one, while I noted four separate groups raising money to support families for funerals for students who recently lost their lives.  I thought why are teenagers dying in high school?  I later revisited the topic, reporting back to the school about our loss of Nile.  There was no process in place for me to share the details around MRSA and how deadly and contagious it is.  
When students with open wounds were sent to doctors for official release to get back into school, doctors denied parents and teachers’ request for MRSA tests.  Deaths from MRSA are unreported but not forgotten.  Today California does not consider MRSA a reportable disease.  Only three counties in California require to report MRSA cases.  The remainder of the state provides information on the honor system.  What you will be hearing from the California Department of Public Health on this panel are facts and figures and numbers provided to you regarding MRSA in California.  Keep in mind none of these facts and figures are complete.  They do not represent the full scope, simply because the data you are sharing and they are sharing is gathered from those who volunteer the information on the honor system.  Until California requires that MRSA become a reportable disease, we cannot begin to be prepared. 
My son Nile is not counted in the six people that the health department lists as dying from MRSA pneumonia in 2006.  It does not really matter where a person is infected with MRSA, in the hospital or  in the community, because the most severe cases will end up in the hospitals.  Unless we detect MRSA at the door before admitting within the walls of our hospital we will continue to infect patients throughout the hospital.  

Once infected and not screened before they are discharged, they will share MRSA with others they meet in schools and shopping malls and gyms.  Nile was in the hospital and then he went to school.  We have no time to waste.  People are dying.  The best way to be ready for an outbreak is to prevent one, and the good news is most of these infections are preventable provided everyone has the proper education and it is up to date on prevention measures that work to be prepared, California needs focus and accountability.  
We need an independent MRSA swat team, a task force with timelines and tight schedules so that we have a beginning, a middle, and an end.  They need to roll out mandatory reporting for MRSA and VRE cases, deploy public reporting of hospital acquired infections, set up the ongoing managing teams that will support the program for the long term, deploy screening programs to mimic the successful results of our VA hospitals complete with one hour rapid testing for MRSA, education and infection control training and certifications for health care, education for the public and schools, and last but not least, accountability.  To become prepared for the future for a future emergency outbreak, we must first acknowledge we are in one now.  And until that time, California is unaware and is unprepared.  Thank you so much for your time.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, Carole.  Let me just—could I ask you a couple questions?  You know, I think you pretty much outlined why California’s unaware and unprepared I think as you said throughout your testimony, but you also are a member of this committee that you’ve mentioned which we mentioned a couple of times.  SB 739, created the association infection advisory committee.  And you mentioned you’re one of 29?

MS. MOSS:  One of 29, right.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And who are the other 29, roughly?  I mean, these are industry folks, these are folks.

MS. MOSS:  They are experts and epidemiology.  Most of the representatives on this committee represent the hospitals that they work for.  They focus on California Hospital Association, experts.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yeah, but probably not folks that have a vested interest in making wholesale change in order to get to, you know, what took your son, correct?

MS. MOSS:  Right.  I think that as of this point, I’m probably the only one there can supporting the consumer and the public.

SENATOR FLOREZ:   Will your thoughts on the committee being more consumer friendly, if you will, need more folks on this particular committee, from your perspective that are truly from the public, or how would we make this committee better?

MS. MOSS:  Well, to be honest, it’s a difficult question simply because of the things that you hit on earlier today.  This is an unfunded program.  So think about people that take time out of working in their hospitals and they come and they keep being reminded that, you know what, this is really not a priority, because it’s unfunded.  So, the focus really and truly is not on what we’re there for.  We’re really there for the public.  We’re there for all of the consumers and it’s not the focus that really needs to be addressed.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And how do we, from your perspective, how do we get the work out on, and you mentioned quite a few actions that we’ll take those obviously to heart and try to fashion something that I think meets the MRSA test that you mentioned.  I think that’s important, you know, because there’s a lot of misinformation, I think, out there.  That it seems to create a very lackadaisical—I flew from Bakersfield this morning for the hearing and our Superintendent O’Connell was in Bakersfield yesterday talking about MRSA, and what I took away from the article was wash your hands, wash your hands, and wash your hands again.  And that was it.  And so I’m wondering if, you know, in preparing for this hearing, you know, I’m flying up thinking it’s got to be more complex than that, obviously, in terms of the structure and what we need to be doing in order to make this a truly, a true fight if you say, on the issue.  
What do we really need to do to get this moving through the Legislature?  We have a committee.  You’re on it.  You’re outnumbered 1-29.  In many cases it doesn’t seem, even though it’s statutory created, to have pushed very much.  I mean, you have a January 1st, 2008 deadline according to the legislation for, in essence, submitting recommendations.  Are we going to meet that deadline and where are the recommendations in your mind, going to be submitted to?
MS. MOSS:  Well, the whole purpose of the committee is to submit recommendations to the California Department of Public Health.  Now, these are just recommendations that they can use or not use.  This same committee pulled together a report called the Recommendations for Reducing Morbidity and Mortality Related to Health Care Associated Infections in California.  It was the Health Care Associated Infection Advisory Working Group, the final report which was presented December 31st of 2005.  Roughly half, close to half of the people on this committee are on the committee were on today.  Only one or two of the 20-something recommendations that were set forth in 2005 have been acted on.  there was no follow-up.  
If this was in place in 2005, my son could be here today.  And that’s the pure truth of it.  What we need today is we need a task force.  At this point the group we have, they’re all great people.  They work very hard.  We need to have a totally funded task force that are new legs, fresh legs, like in a marathon. They’re ready to come in with fresh ideas and move and get things done, because where we are today, this isn’t a group that’s going to get us to where we need to be to protect people.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, and I think a lot of what seems to happen at least from the Auditor’s report, I mean, you read two VSA auditor reports that go to 2005, makes lots of recommendations and, in essence, we’re very thankful that the legislation now gives the Legislature and the Auditor the ability to do a yearly and mandatory spot check, if you will, to make sure that these things are being implemented, because I think it gets to your question.  It gets even past a task force if the Legislature is engaged enough to ask and push in the right direction.  

Who ultimately will monitor what you hand over to the Department of Health Services?  I mean, at the end of the day—

MS. MOSS:  Right.  It goes to the Department of Health and they can decide to use it or not.  What we were told at beginning at the first meeting was actually some things that I heard with some other senators and Assembly folks.  They said, Carole, this is after they sit down and listen, because you know, we really do meet with the community and doctors and try to share.  You know, our goal in Nile’s Project MRSA is to educate.  So in the different binders that you have we actually go out and educate people in how they can prevent infections themselves.
But, in this particular case, we were told, Carole, if I was you, I would set forth on, you know, requesting an administrative law, because many of these things can be implemented on the, with the administration.  So in the opening of our first meeting, Dr. Chavez and Dr. Horton made statements that actually, you know, we could implement these things without going through the legal process.  And if that’s the case, why has it not been done?  Why are we now waiting?  More deaths, 15,000 deaths every year, and probably way more than that.

So, at this particular case, who would oversee the task force?  Well, naturally it would be assigned to, you know, Licensing as long as they’re up to speed.  One of the issues that’s with 739 right now, the law today, it really was a law that really was scaled down and no where near what we need.  SB 739 simply requires public reporting of processes.  No other state is even focused on having them report on focuses, on processes.  They assume they’re professionals, they’re going to do the processes.  They want to see the outcomes, and that’s what we need for California.  
We need, you know, we’re spending a whole lot of time on these processes.  That’s, you know, everyone is a grown up in health care.  They should be doing the processes.  We need to see what the outcomes are hospital by hospital as we do in restaurants, so that you or I could determine do we want to go into that restaurant or do we want to go to that hospital and treat, and have our children and our parents treated in that hospital.  That’s what we need, but that’s, the other thing is in this law, it does not show, it does not penalize anybody for not performing.  So, there’s by January 1, all the hospitals should be ready and on board with the reporting tool and ready to start gathering the proper data.  So once they’re ready, then in six months, that report will be made public.  Well, right now they’re not on target.  No one has been informed in these hospitals of here are the areas of data you need to be collecting.  They don’t even know that yet.  So that still needs to get to all 400 or so hospitals.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Or monitoring catheters or other types of things correctly.

MS. MOSS:  Exactly.  So January 1, there’s no way they could be collecting the right data, because they don’t even know what the right data is yet.  So that’s the first gate that, you know, our next advisory committee isn’t set up for three weeks after that date.  There is no focus or sense of urgency on this matter.  There could have been many more.  We had three meetings in person from July until now.  Obviously, no one on this committee has been touched with this in their life, because if they did, I think I’d have more people, you know, focused on moving quickly.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Let me ask the final question before we move on in terms of you’ve had three meetings from July to now.  I was asked by a reporter earlier whether or not, you know, is this, and I think it’s a question that most Californians are asking and that is, is this an epidemic or is this something that, you know, without statistics, how do we know that it’s something that one might term an epidemic proportions or is it just something that we’re seeing a rise in terms of media and then it goes away?  I mean, give me your perspective on an epidemic.  

MS. MOSS:  I’ll give you a great example, so when a lot of the media came out a couple of months ago, you know, we talked with people in, you know, the community and they were going to go in for a test in Irvine.  They said, did you hear about the one case in Irvine?  I said, there are thousands of cases in Irvine.  They’re just not getting reported.  It took us to about nine different papers to go get an article in the paper about Nile.  Just because it’s not in the paper, it doesn’t mean it’s around 15,000 people dying in the U.S.  That is equal to a plane crash a week.  I would consider that an epidemic.  I would consider—that is spread out and that is voluntary information.  
People are unaware.  When a daycare sends a note home here in Sacramento, mind you, of a MRSA case in that classroom, and a family member has a child, now has a fever of 101 and takes the letter to the doctor and says I would like you to test for MRSA.  And this is why.  And the doctor refuses.  We won’t test for MRSA.  We don’t see any spider bite looking things or boils.  The education, we are unaware.  You don’t hear about the most deadly that looks like the flu.  One reason in SB 739 they do address flu is because they know that if you have the flu, you have a greater chance of getting MRSA.  
So here is a place, the only place within our law that we can at least be in the forefront from the 20 other states that have implemented things and that is California is going to start implementing a flue offering program in the hospitals.  So if an employee says, you know, I don’t want a flu shot, then they need to sign a form that says I understand that I am putting my patient’s life at risk.  However, the discussion of where we are right now is that they’re leaving physicians out of the equation which physicians have daily contact.  So these are the areas that are very important and the education needs to get out.  A recommendation for the California Department of Health a campaign for public service announcements that say make sure to get your flu shots.  Please start to under--share the size of the problem.  
I beg of you to do something to get the word out to the public.  If I would have known, if I had this information, I would have demanded the one hour MRSA test that was available for Nile when we walked into the hospital.  We went into the hospital.  He had flu-like symptoms.  They tested him for strep throat.  Oh, you don’t have strep throat.  I’ll send you home with an antibiotic for strep throat.  That night his fever went to 104 and a half.  We got his fever down to 99.  That was a Saturday.  On a Sunday he started having difficulty breathing.  We got him back into the hospital.  We get him in the hospital and he is in there trying to breathe for five and a half hours.  They didn’t give him antibiotics in the hospital for five and a half hours.  He was diagnosed with pneumonia.  
These people are not looking for cases.  They need to be on high alert in hospitals.  When you get flu-like symptoms, you need to be cautious and you need to assume its MRSA and react as it is.  Nile didn’t get breathing, any kind of breathing assistance for seven hours.  In other hospitals, they know of MRSA.  And they would have given a full, wide range of antibiotics right away.  They would have given him breathing tube way before it was too late and they would have induced coma.  Those are things that all should be educated to our health care workers and they should be on guard now, because, it is epidemic.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you, very much for your testimony.  Okay, Christine Cahill?  Infection prevention and control consultant.  Thanks for joining us.

MS. CHRISTINE CAHILL:  Good morning, Senator.  I’m an infection prevention and control consultant now, recently retired from the State of California.  My name is Chris Cahill and I’m a registered nurse with 30 years of experience in health care and infection surveillance prevention and control.  From 1995 to 2006 when I retired, I worked for the California Department of Health Services, now the California Department of Public Health.  In that role I was a nurse consultant.  My primary role was to investigate outbreaks of infections in hospitals, but I also did validate our surveys to determine compliance with federal and state regulations.  I also wrote the California Hospital Bioterrorism Response Planning Guide which was released on the internet just as word of persons on the east coast were being infected with anthrax.

As defined by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, a health care associated infections are infections that are caused by pathogens that patients acquire during a course of receiving treatment for other conditions within the health care setting.  Health care and associated infections are one of the most leading causes of death in the United States.  The CDC estimates that on 1.7 million health care associated infections occur in the United States annually and contribute to about 99,000 deaths.  Of these infections, 417,000 occur in adults and children in intensive care units, but 1.2 million of these infections occur in children and adults who have never been in an intensive care unit.  In other words, they’re in a hospital, but on a med surge unit or something like that.  We don’t count those infections most of the time.

Although the primary focus of discussion today is the super bug, methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus, there are many, many other problematic pathogens that are our responsible for health care associated infections.  And these pathogens are increasing in pathogenicity, and increasing in the number of infections that they’re causing.  These pathogens are clostridium difficile, which causes a severe diarrhea in hospitalized patients; vancomycin-resistant  enterococcus which causes blood stream infections, especially in patients who have transplants; and Acinetobacter which sounds kind of funny, Acinetobacter, but this multi-resistant to almost every antibiotic, and we’re seeing it come back from people who are coming back from Iraq, soldiers who are coming back from Iraq.
Transmission of these and other pathogens could be near zero if hospitals enforced appropriate infection prevention practices that include hand hygiene, a better use of gowns and gloves for health care worker/patient interaction, and maintaining a sanitary environment.  Without commitment and without support from the hospital’s “C" suite, the Department of Public Health, professional organizations, hospital infection prevention professionals, and the Centers for Disease Control, attainment of near zero transmission will never, ever be achieved.

Currently there are no state requirements to report health care associated infections caused by any specific pathogens such as MRSA.  Therefore, we can only estimate what the numbers.  According to the Office of Statewide Planning and Development, California discharged approximately 3.4 million patients from acute care hospitals in 2006.  Based on CDC estimates, six to 10 percent of these patients will develop an HAI in California which equates to about 204-340,000 patients.  This is a conservative estimate and using Medicare reimbursement rates, third party payers and hospitals paid for, it cost third party payers and hospitals $2.9-$4.8 billion annually.  

Now the primary topic here is MRSA, the super bug, and I was able to roughly estimate some of the numbers from using some federal data bases.  My projections are based on federal and they’re based on 2005 statistics, actually, 2004 statistics and they’re very, very conservative.  But, according to my estimations and using what we call the hiccup data, 27,000 Californians were either hospitalized because of an invasive MRSA infection, or they developed an MRSA infection during hospitalization.  These infections include, and I just want to summarize this for you, because I think this is really astounding.  These are the discharge diagnoses according to the hiccup data.  Skin and soft tissue infections, over 5,000 in 2005; pneumonia, 2,500; complications of a device or implant or graft which means that it’s probably related to some line that was put in the patient, 2,187; complications of a surgical procedure or medical care, 2,079; septicemia, which is a blood infection, sepsis, which is a very serious infection, almost 2,000; and other infections were close to 4,000.  So those are probably about 12,000 infections based on very, very conservative data.  And this is the types of infections that we’re seeing, the types of discharge diagnoses. 
The CDC estimated in 2005 that 94,000 patients developed an invasive M.R.S.A. infection and nearly 19,000 died.  The authors were surprised at the prevalence of this serious infection was so high.  A Los Angeles County Department of Public Health official characterized the fact as astounding, and the deputy chief of CDC’s Division of Health Care Quality and Promotion states, “This confirms in a very rigorous way that this, M.R.S.A, is a huge problem.”

Between 1999-2006, there was very little information about community acquired M.R.S.A. published by the CDC.  In August of 1999, the CDC published a report about four pediatric patients occurring in Minnesota and North Dakota.  The children were previous healthy.  No exposures to hospitals.  The report noted that this new M.R.S.A. strain was occurring in Chicago pediatric hospitals, a day care center, and among minority communities and other countries.  The CDC concluded that not much was known about the new strain or how to limit the spread of it in the community.  
In May of 2007, the CDC reported that 55 children from 23 participating states died of influenza.  Sixteen previously healthy pediatric patients were co-infected with Staph aureus and 11 of those 16 were co-infected with the M.R.S.A.

The 2006-2000 (sic?) influenza seasons were relatively mild compared to some years.  However, if the number of influenza cases co-infected with the M.R.S.A. increase, especially in the pediatric population will California have enough beds?  Will they have enough pediatric ventilators?  Are the pediatricians and the emergency room physicians going to be pro-active in identifying M.R.S.A. by quick testing?  Are physicians educated about M.R.S.A. and how to treat it?  Are hospitals going to do everything that they can to prevent transmission?  And I think the answer to these and other questions is that we’re not ready.  This is like a time bomb waiting to go off.  
Tennessee took action.  This state made invasive M.R.S.A. a reportable disease and identified nearly 2,000 cases in 2005.  This is based on a population of six million.  By careful analysis of the data, they identified clusters of invasive M.R.S.A. among young adults that may have resulted from what we call sub optimal treatment practices, in other words, inappropriate use of antibiotics.  Not appropriate use, but inappropriate use.  They took action and they informed health care providers of the problem.  They offered appropriate treatment options.  They provided education to the health care workers.  They sent out newsletters.  How are the public notified about signs and symptoms of M.R.S.A. in California, especially if they don’t speak, if the population, most of the population doesn’t speak English or have computer access while they’re harvesting the crops out in our fields?  

There’s a national call to action to identify every patient who has M.R.S.A. and to place them in isolation.  This call to action is being aggressively pursued by the media and the legislatures.  It calls for active surveillance cultures to identify M.R.S.A. positive patients and isolation to prevent transmission.  According to authorities, because M.R.S.A. is a highly virulent multi-drug resistant organism that is easily transmitted from patient to patient, early identification of carriers prompts health care workers to implement special transmission prevention precautions.  
However, currently the CDC is at odds with this recommendation.  The CDC recommends active surveillance cultures only when the incidence of or prevalence of M.R.S.A. is not decreasing, not to help decrease it, despite the implementation and correct implementation of recommended infection control practices.

The members of the Society for Health Care Epidemiology of America who are consultants to the CDC are at odds within their own ranks.  On one hand they publish a position paper saying that you need to identify all patients with MRSA or VRE, and on the next level, they pooh-pooh legislation to do this.  The professional organizations are under the impression, then infection control professionals who were, for the most part, staff nurses in their previous life, as opposed to administrative nurses, can walk into their administrator’s office and say, I want to implement a multi-million dollar program, when the administrator doesn’t even understand what M.R.S.A. is.  So, it’s politics as usual and who suffers, but the patient. 
This doesn’t sound like a whole lot, but I used to do federal validation surveys in addition to everything else I did for the Department of Public Health.  And during 2004 and 2006 I did more than 12, but 12 of the 12 validation surveys, federal validation surveys that I did, the hospitals were cited for poor sanitation.  The licensing and certification program was notified of the findings, but failed to take any action whatsoever.

What can be done immediately to reduce the transmission of M.R.S.A., VRE, clostridium difficile, or any pathogen?  We can enforce hand hygiene.  We’ve been enforcing this for years.  We can clean up our filthy environments, and we can bathe our patients who are bed bound so that the M.R.S.A. and other organisms on their skin remain at a low level.  

Recently researchers have demonstrated that M.R.S.A. culture negative patients admitted to clean patient ready rooms previously occupied by patients known to be M.R.S.A. positive acquired that microorganism.  The author of this study stated admission to an ICU room previously occupied by an M.R.S.A. positive patient was significantly associated with an elevated risk of acquiring M.R.S.A.   And there have been other studies.

Now I reviewed the CDC guidelines for environmental infection control which were issued June 6, 2003.  The current guidelines create a multi-tiered approach that in essence, tells health care workers to increase the level of preventative precautions if it is known or suspected that a patient has M.R.S.A. or other health care pathogens.  I’m truly appalled by these recommendations.  And I can’t understand how they ever got published.  What they say is keep the housekeeping, keep housekeeping surfaces such as high touched areas, door knobs, bed rails, things like that, clean on a routine basis.  Not daily, but a routine basis.  However, if it’s known I can look at you and tell that you have M.R.S.A.   If it’s known that you have a special pathogen, you got to increase your amount of cleaning, you gotta, you know, pay closer attention.  And you gotta train your environmental surfaces people to do a better job.
It’s the lack of leadership and consensus at the federal and state level and not enough resources at the local level to do much more than the status quo.  With an average of 1.2 infection professionals for each California hospital licensed for more than 200 beds, not much more can be done.  I’ve been there and I can’t do it, I couldn’t do it now. 

In a recent poll, APIC said 41 percent of 2,100 responded infection control practitioners said that their health care facility had not implemented any new measures to prevent M.R.S.A. transmission, because they either do not have the resources, or hospital administrators refuse to support their recommendations.  The other 59 percent reinforced procedures such as hand washing and this has been a joint commission patient safety recommendation for a number of years.

Beginning in January of 2008, SB 739 requires hospitals to report certain process measures.  One of those is influenza vaccine.  I talked to a friend of mine the other day—it’s not that I’m against influenza vaccine, I’m against having to enter all of this data into a national data base.  And a friend told me the other day that she has 2,065 employees and it would take her 130 hours just to enter the required influenza vaccination data into an Excel data base.  Now if you can’t down load that Excel data base, or if you have to do it by hand, that doubles the amount of time that it takes to just enter this information.  So process measures, they’re very, very important.  They are very important to implement.  But, you know, having to spend 130 hours to put this data into a data base is totally ridiculous. 

SB 739 also requires the Department of Public Health to educate health care facility evaluator nurses.  These are our surveyors.  Revise existing and adopt new administrative regulations for HAI prevention beginning in January of 2009 evaluate facilities compliance with existing policies and procedures.  I don’t know how we can evaluate infection control compliance with infection control policies and procedures when our surveyors have not even been trained to survey for infection control.  I’ll be done in just a minute.  
I’ll tell this committee that infection prevention and control is not on the radar screen of those responsible for setting infection prevention and control standards.  The current administration will claim that they’re doing an adequate job of addressing this problem, and that they can increase their efforts using existing resources.  However, this is a gross exaggeration.  Currently there is one public health physician in the California Department of Public Health Infectious Disease Branch to do any infection control, to field all the questions, to answer questions about outbreaks.  I mean, this guy is really, this guy is super busy, I have to tell you.  Until December 2006, licensing certification had an experienced infection control professional.  That was me.  I retired.  They hired somebody else.  That person terminated her position for reasons unknown.  

Additionally, if the CDC and the CDHP declared M.R.S.A. at epidemic levels, we would have to allocate resources from the federal and state to deal with this issue.  And the only thing that we’ve done right now is we’ve created some little brochures to tell athletes that they got to wash their hands and not share their towels.  

In August of 2005 the Health Care Associated Infections Advisory Work Group convened by the California Department of Public Health made 16 recommendations.  That’s the, what Carole just referred to.  To date, the only recommendation implement that is the creation of an HAI advisory team, or advisory work committee, and funds for implementing SB 739 requirements were also vetoed by the Governor, meaning that since July of 2005, I don’t know how many meetings—I used to be on the committee.  I don’t know how many meetings they’ve had, but infection control practitioners had paid their way to come to Sacramento to develop the recommendations that Carole showed you.
The current administration and the Legislature have repeatedly refused to allocate any funds to M.R.S.A., to any type of infection control, even though we’ve requested funds and several BCP changes.  I have a whole list of here of what’s needed in California, but I think that some of these things are, you know, for the purpose of, you know, unless you really want me to go over them, you know, for the purpose of being a little bit, to shorten my testimony a little bit.  Would you like me to review the 24 items or . . ?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Personally, I don’t mind you doing that, but let’s, since you have them in writing, let’s submit them to the committee and make sure they’re a part of the transcript, even though we have to read them into the transcript.  Because I think part of this also is to develop a transcript so we can go through and most definitely send it to the Administration so they can go through it more thoroughly, so we can make sure that all unresolved questions are answered.  That’s the best way to do this while we have hearings, so we can actually go back and read what we said and then try to react to those questions beyond just sitting and listening.  So, your comments are very important and we need them all, so let’s go ahead and submit those. 
 Let me ask you a few questions.  I might get to some of those recommendations, if I could.  The first is, obviously, something I’m going to probably ask every person here.  And that is, so are we in an epidemic in terms of M.R.S.A. or not?

MS. CAHILL:  Oh, yes.  We definitely are.  I would go on record to say that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of the leadership of the Department that you were currently, you previously at, did they share that conclusion?

MS. CAHILL:  No.  I don’t really know.  There’s been no indication that they share that conclusion.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, and in terms of the recommendations from your prior agency, do any of the recommendations or actions up to this point tell you that they share that conclusion?

MS. CAHILL:  No.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And let’s go to this hospital sanitation, because you hit on that quite a bit.  And it’s something that the Legislature constantly debates and that is how do we, you know, how do we hold hospitals accountable for, in essence,  being sanitary hospitals, whether they be acute or not?  And I imagine in your recommendation you have some of those suggestions in terms of how to make our hospitals, if you will, with poor sanitary conditions, if you will, up to the level, well they should, I mean, we do have state regulators.  I assume, at least from a legislative point of view, that was all taken care of.  Is that not right?

MS. CAHILL:  No, that’s not correct.  I mean, I’ve been in a lot of hospitals, you know, during my position here and even after.  I mean, I’m a consultant in private practice now, and what I see in hospitals is gross filth.  I’m talking about gross filth.  You wouldn’t have this amount of dust and dirt and I’m not talking about a little bit of dust.  I’m talking about globs of dust on your hands.  I have repeatedly informed the licensing and certification program of my concerns.  I really have not received any good, any validated actions that they plan to take.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And at least in the, we have 450 acute care hospitals in California, and not very many meet your standard, then, I assume, and probably the public’s standards in terms of sanitary conditions that would prevent these types of staph infections and other types of infections.

MS. CAHILL:  I think that is affirmative, yes.  And from one of the studies, there are a couple of studies, it really has been, it was really astounding, because they figured they could reduce transmission of M.R.S.A. and VRE and an intensive care unit by anywhere from 10-15 percent.  Now that doesn’t sound like a whole lot, but it’s a start.  And in addition to hand washing and in addition to other infection control practices, then, you know, you’ve got the start of reducing the transmission of this, of these organisms within a confined area such as an intensive care unit.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  I have a report from, on St. Agnes Hospital, by CDC, and I’m just wondering if you’re familiar with the report?

MS. CAHILL:  I am familiar, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Can you give us a little synopsis and is this indicative of the cleanliness of the hospitals?  I mean, maybe you can just give us your thoughts on that.

MS. CAHILL:  This is an investigation that was an outbreak of external wound infections both deep and superficial, and patients who had undergone cardiothoracic surgery.  The CDC, because of the nature of the organisms, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention sent a team out to do an investigation of this hospital.  But, by the time they got to this hospital, I think, I don’t have the report in front of me.  The infections actually took place between, I believe January and September of 2007, and the CDC didn’t even get here until like October or something like that.  I don’t know the exact dates.  

The impression that CDC got was the hospital had gone in and done a bleach clean of the operating room before they even got there and pseudomonas is an environmental organism and it, you know, it’s like a water bug.  If I left my glass of water sitting here for a few days, I could probably grow pseudomonas out of it.  The CDC’s conclusions were, number one, the facilities were not following their policies and procedures for administering pre-operative prophylactic antibiotic therapy.  That they were not following their policies and infection control policies and procedures for hand hygiene.  There were some other issues, wearing a mask in the operating room, and there were about 12 issues and I don’t, sorry I don’t remember all of them right now.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And this is CDC’s report.  Where’s the state’s report?

MS. CAHILL:  I don’t know.  You’ll have to ask them.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, I was just wondering if you knew.  I will ask them when they come up.

MS. CAHILL:   They’ll do it on a 25-67.  This, the Sacramento office should have done the investigation.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Gotcha.  Let me see what other questions I have for you.  Quarterly inspections, ratings posted in places for all to see in terms of cleanliness, I mean is that going get our ____ need to get?  I know it works for restaurants.  Not quite sure if it works for hospitals.

MS. CAHILL:  They should be cleaning the patient’s environment every day and then doing a really good cleaning after the patient is discharged.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Thank you for your testimony.  And please, we do, would very much like your recommendations, if we could submit those, as well.  We could grab those and we’ll make sure they’re part of the record.  

MS. CAHILL:  Do you want me to read them now, or?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, hold onto them.  We’ll include them into the record.  Okay, thank you very much. 
CHRISTINE CAHILL RECOMMENDATIONS:
1. Establish, fund, and staff a community and healthcare infection surveillance, prevention, and control program within the California Department of Public Health.

2. Repeal SB 739 related to the reporting of process measures.

3. Propose new legislative language requiring the public reporting of infection rates.

4. Fund the healthcare-associated infections advisory committee.

5. Beginning in January, 2008, make invasive MRSA a reportable disease (does not require legislation)

6. Develop and implement a statewide, electronic surveillance system to identify patients infected with MRSA and other healthcare-associated pathogens, such as C. difficile.

7. Increase the ratio of hospital infection control practitioners for each acute care hospital.  Currently, there is an average of 1.2 practitioners for all hospitals licensed for 200 or more beds in this state.

8. Require the CDC to immediately develop rational, basic, equal-weighted recommendations to prevent transmission of HAI.

9. Create a state sponsored public education program similar to childhood obesity and stop smoking campaigns so that parents, teachers, and the public will be more informed about MRSA.

10. Develop new transmission-based precautions for health care facilities that increase the level of prevention that all health care workers should take when they have contact with all patients and their immediate environment.
11. Require hospitals to screen patients with the specific conditions for MRSA.

12. Require Licensing and Certification to enforce federal infection control regulations.

13. Require hospitals receiving Centers for Medicare and Medicaid (CMS) reimbursement to be in full compliance with the requirement set forth in the federal regulations as defined in the Condition of Participation (COP).

14. Review the federal regulations and interpretive guidelines and make recommendations to the Deputy Director for Center for Healthcare Quality for adoption of the federal regulations and interpretive guidelines as a method by which hospitals should be surveyed for compliance with infection, surveillance prevention, and control.
15. Require each general acute care hospital to develop, implement, monitor, and periodically evaluate health care worker compliance with policies and procedures to prevent HAI.

16. During surveys, evaluate the facility’s compliance with existing policies and procedures to prevent HAI, including any externally or internally reported process and outcome measures.

17. Educate Licensing and Certification Program Health Facility Evaluator Nurses to effectively survey hospitals and other licensed healthcare facilities for compliance with current and future infection surveillance, prevention, and control strategies and regulations.

18. Provide guidance to surveyors on the interpretation of infection surveillance, prevention, and control recommendations issued by CDC, SHEA, APIC and other professional organizations.

19. Develop a statewide electronic reporting database to monitor increases in specific invasive infections caused by antibiotic resistant organisms such as MRSA and the incidence of healthcare-associated infections such (as) bloodstream infections and surgical site infections.

20. Develop training and education programs for healthcare facility infection prevention professionals new to the profession.

21. Provide consultation and assistance to other State agencies (e.g., Department of Correction, Social Services, etc.) in the development and implementation of infection prevention guidelines.

22. Provide educational materials and web-based training programs and current infection prevention information on a website.

23. Investigate and follow-up on clusters and outbreaks of healthcare-associated infections.

24. Provide sufficient laboratory capacity to support healthcare facilities and local health departments with pathogen identification, molecular epidemiology, and antimicrobial susceptibility testing for the investigation of outbreaks and surveillance of unusual pathogens.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let’s go to APIC.  Thanks for being here.
MS. SHANNON ORIOLA:  Thank you.  Good morning, members of the Committee on Governmental Organization.  My name is Shannon Oriola and I am a certified infection prevention and control professional with over 12 years of experience.  While I work at a large facility in the San Diego area, I also serve on the task force that’s SB 739.  I’m a constituent.  I come today before you as a board member to the Association for Professionals In Infection and Control and Epidemiology.  It is an international organization. 

APIC is a non-profit, multi-disciplinary, international organization representing more than 11,000 infection and prevention and control professionals.  Our mission is to improve health and promote safety by reducing risk of infection and other outcomes in patients in health care workers.  So our job really is to protect everyone, and it ranges not only from MRSA, but device-associated infections, for example, central venous catheters, associated blood stream infections, surgical sight infections, construction related infections, communicable diseases such as tuberculosis.  And we take our jobs very seriously.

APIC applauds Senator Chairman Flores for conducting today’s hearing in an effort to assess California’s overall emergency preparedness related to methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus or M.R.S.A.   It saddens me to hear stories of the devastation of this potentially deadly bacteria, that this potentially bacteria causes.  And I’d like to take a moment again to express my sympathy to the Moss family.  I believe, Carole, your husband’s in the audience, as well.  
Per the invitation of the Senate Chair, I will be focusing my remarks on the results of APIC’s M.R.S.A. prevalence survey.  And what you have before you is a slide, PowerPoint presentation and I will be referring to the slides, but you don’t have a copy of my exact testimony.
Slides two through eight give an overview of M.R.S.A. and the differences between the community and hospital associated strains and there is some very unique distinctions.  I will be happy to entertain questions at the end of my remarks surrounding the prevalence survey.  In June of this year, APIC released initial results from its nationwide study of 1,237 U.S. health care facilities examining the prevalence of M.R.S.A., a multi-drug resistant organism.  The findings demonstrate M.R.S.A. prevalence rates to be at least 46 patients identified with having M.R.S.A.--and these are patients that could be historically colonized with M.R.S.A. meaning they may have had the infection in the past or they have a current infection--per 100,000 patients, significantly more widespread and established than had been previously estimated.
In the most comprehensive M.R.S.A. survey of its kind, infection prevention and control professionals from approximately 21 percent of U.S. health care facilities in all 50 states participated in the study.  The survey took a one day snap shot, so it’s just a one day in a period of time, of patients hospitalized who have been identified as having M.R.S.A. at these facilities between October and November, 2006.  So, about a year ago.  The detailed survey looked at facilities caring for virtually every type of patient, acute care, cancer, cardiac, pediatric, rehabilitation, long-term care, and included county public and private facilities.  The survey also represents a cross section of all sizes of facilities ranging from less than 100 to more than 300 beds.  Where 65 percent were urban and 36 percent were rural facilities.  And I’d refer you to slide 10.  I just wanted to make a note and it’s italicized, that previous studies that talked about M.R.S.A. were really incidence studies, so they were looking at the occurrence of patients with infection or new disease.  And APIC’s was a prevalence study, so looking at the overall burden or M.R.S.A., so really they’re not comparative studies, or apples to oranges.  
This is the first study to measure rates of both M.R.S.A. infection and colonization to more accurately determine the magnitude of M.R.S.A. in our health care facilities.  And on slide four, it does do a distinction, because there is some differentiation between somebody who’s colonized versus infected.  Colonization means that the bacteria is present on your skin, inside your nose, perhaps, but you don’t have an active infection.  It’s silent.  It’s just there.  Infection is where the bacteria is overwhelming the host response so you have an active infection, redness, warmth, virulence, drainage.  Antibiotics generally, may treat the infection, but will not eliminate the bacteria.  Once the infection has occurred, colonization may persist. 

This is the first study to measure the rates of both M.R.S.A. infection and colonization, as I mentioned.  The data showed that 46 out of every 1,000 patients in the survey were either infected or colonized.  Out of the 46 of the 1,000 patients, 34 were infected while 12 were colonized.  Additionally, the survey determined that Prop. 77 percent of patients with M.R.S.A. were identified within 48 hours of admission.  So the findings suggest that 35 out of the 46 patients per 1,000 walk into health care facilities with M.R.S.A. having acquired it either in a previous stay, in a health care facility, or perhaps in the community.  It’s hard to differentiate.  
The research indicated that once patients are identified as having M.R.S.A., health care facilities employ recommended practices to prevent transmission of the organism such as placing the patient in contact isolation.  And contact isolation generally includes the use of barrier precautions, so you’ll see the health care provider put on gowns and gloves, clean their hands before and after patient contact, dedicating patient care equipment to the patient, so the blood pressure cuff doesn’t go from patient to patient.  And the survey findings imply that a significant number of patients are potentially transmitting M.R.S.A. to health care workers and other patients.  And this occurs via the health care workers’ hands, so if hand hygiene isn’t practiced consistently 100 percent of the time, somebody could carry the bacteria from one patient to another patient.
In consideration of your time, I will not go through all the data points on each slide, however, I would like to discuss the charge of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention to health care facilities and this was their multi-drug resistant organism guideline that came out in 2006 to reduce rates of multi-drug resistant organisms.  Foremost, the CDC recommends introducing strategies to reduce health care acquired infections thereby reducing the burden the multi-drug resistant organisms and preventing infections from sensitive pathogens, as well.  And in your handouts I would refer you to slide, I believe it’s 17, so when we talk about multi-drug resistant organisms then I believe Chris had mentioned that there are other, and Carole did as well, vancomycin resistant enterococcus or the Acinetobacter ____ that’s coming home with our military troops from Afghanistan and Iraq, or clostridium difficile which is grouped into that category.  So there are many other multi-drug resistant organisms, as well, than just M.R.S.A. 
So the CDC states that if rates of MRDO, I just wanted to, so the CDC recommends strategies to reduce these health care acquired infections, thereby reducing the burden of multi-drug resistant organisms and also preventing infections from sensitive pathogens as well, because, when you look at a surgical site infection or a device associated infection, oftentimes it’s from the patient’s own flora, and it may not be drug resistant, but we want to protect that infection regardless of it’s a drug resistant or sensitive pathogen.

So the CDC states that if rates of multi-drug resistant organisms are not decreasing or a problem cannot be controlled with a basic set of measures, additional measures should be selected from tier two strategies which includes strategies to improve hand hygiene and adherence to contact precautions, so making sure they are wearing the gowns and gloves reliably, enhanced environmental cleaning, making sure they’re doing the policies they have in their facilities, and active surveillance testing.  So these are kind of a menu, if you will, the facilities can select if they’re experiencing a problem or not seeing their rates decrease.
A health care facility will know if it has a problem by performing a risk assessment and MDROs.  So, not just M.R.S.A., but ____ and other ones that they see in their facility.  The risk assessment will identify if there are areas within a facility that may be experiencing an increase in rates of MDRO.  The risk assessment is fundamental to an infection prevention and control program, and this is required by CMS, the interpretive guidelines for the conditions of participation, the joint commission which accredits many health care facilities.  So it’s the basic tenet of a program.  

And there were a question for recommendations from APIC to this committee, so really to assess the severity of the growing problem of M.R.S.A. and the risk M.R.S.A. poses to citizens of the State of California, data collected really should be meaningful in order for recommendations to be made so that tragedies such as the death of Carole’s son, Nile, and others may hopefully be prevented in the future.

To understand the severity of an invasive M.R.S.A., data could be collected, for example, such as patients who develop M.R.S.A. blood stream infections whether globally or central venous catheter associated.  Or perhaps patients who require admission to an ICU or die from the infection.  Another alternative perhaps could be for the existing task force appointed by the California Department of Health on behalf Senate Bill 739 to weigh the options and research the most effective means of reducing the risk from M.R.S.A. by making recommendations for reporting data.  So, that’s the end of my testimony, and I thank the committee for your time and attention to this very important matter.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  And thank you for putting that on the record, as well.  We appreciate it.  The, want to maybe just one question for you, if I could.  In terms of the comparison that we talked about earlier.  We talked about Tennessee for a moment.  Just to, other states have done this.  Are they doing better than California or not?  Is it legislatively, I mean, given some legislation, is it driving the process?  Are people paying attention to it more?  I mean, what’s the . . ?
MS. ORIOLA:  Well, I think people are paying attention to it more.  I think when the media uses the term super bug it gets peoples’ attention.  I think that this state, several states are looking at the issue now.  I think if you talk to Tennessee, they’ve collected a lot of data, but now they’re putting in a task force to make recommendations.  What do we do with this data?  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, I getcha.  Inaction makes a lot of headlines, also, so, I mean, the point is for us is that is there inaction from the State of California’s part in terms of making this the high level priority that it should be, particularly from an emergency preparedness point of view.  Are we as prepared as other states?  Do you see that or not in terms of the association?

MS. ORIOLA:  Well, I know there is a small work group out of SB 739 looking at making recommendations, as well, for M.R.S.A., so I’m not sure if we’re really behind the curve, the cliché.  I think we’re looking at it.  I think also there is, you really don’t know unless you—I think if you look at the severity of illness and you can measure, then you can really know what you’re dealing with and what interventions you can really make to make a difference.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Okay, thank you very much.  Appreciate that.  Let’s go to Dr. Gil Chavez, state, with the state.  Thank you.
MR. GIL CHAVEZ:  Good morning.  Can you hear me?  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Good morning.  Yes, I can hear you.

MR. CHAVEZ:  Okay.  Good morning, Chairman Florez, Senate members, ladies and gentlemen, I’m Gilberto Chavez, Director for the Centers for Infectious Diseases in the California Department of Public Health.  Thank you for inviting me today to speak with you about M.R.S.A.  
Let me briefly outline what are the types of staph infection and M.R.S.A. that we are seeing in California currently.  Staph, Staphylococcus aureus, or staph for short, is a bacterium commonly carried in the nose or skin of up to 30 percent of healthy people.  Colonization by Staph aureus is frequently, but not always, a precursor to infections.  Staph aureus has been one of the most important culprits found in skin infections in the United States for decades.  The most common Staph infection in otherwise healthy persons are of skin and other soft tissues.  Most of these skin infections are pretty minor such as boils and simple abscesses and can be treated without antibiotics by lancing the wound and draining the infection.  Others may require antibiotics which are usually given by mouth and are usually very effective.  In a small number of cases, staph also can cause serious infections including surgical wound infections, blood stream infections, endocarditis, toxic shock syndrome, and pneumonia.
I would like to stress that the mode of transmission of Staph aureus is by direct contact with contaminated lesions or surfaces.  So the potential spread of Staph aureus is completely different from infections like influenza, tuberculosis, and many others which may spread rapidly via respiratory route due to inhalation of microorganisms directly from individuals coughing or sneezing.  This is a very important consideration in the prevention of individual cases and the institution of measures to control outbreaks due to Staph aureus.  
Over the last couple of decades, Staph aureus strains that are resistant to penicillin and other antimicrobials have been identified with increasing frequency.  These strains as referred to as multi-drug resistant M.R.S.A.  M.R.S.A. are generally classified as either health care associated or community associated.  In health care settings, staph invades the body and causes infections at sites where surgery has been performed, in lungs of patients undergoing artificial ventilation, and in the blood stream of patients with catheters or intravenous lines inserted in blood vessels. 

In the community setting, most cases of skin and soft tissue infection is due to community associated M.R.S.A. are mild and treated at home or in physicians’ offices.  However, this community M.R.S.A. strains are different from the health care associated M.R.S.A. strains, because they have a new resistant gene complex and a new virulence gene that produces toxins that make us damage to skin, toxic shock, severe pneumonia, and other severe conditions in some previously healthy people.  
Now, let me tell you briefly what we know about the frequency of M.R.S.A. in California.  The Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development collects data on hospital admission diagnoses and recently used these data to provide to us the numbers of patients admitted with staph or M.R.S.A. infections including the immediate diagnosis and the percent of staph infections that were positive for antibiotic resistance.  
The data show a substantial increase in hospitalizations involving M.R.S.A. infections since 1999 in California.  From 1999 to 2006, the number of patients with M.R.S.A. infections admitted to hospitals increased fourfold from 13,504 to 54,317 in California.  The percent of all staph infections that were due to M.R.S.A. increased two-fold from 30 percent in 1999 to 60 percent in 2006.  This is consistent with the CDC study of national hospital discharge data that did some estimates for California.

Among senior adults, those ages 65 or older, who are more often diagnosed with health care associated M.R.S.A. infections than community associated M.R.S.A., the number of hospitalizations that involve M.R.S.A. infections, increased 2.5-fold from 9,320 in 1999, to 23,317 in 2006.  In contrast for children who are more commonly infected with community associated M.R.S.A. rather than health care associated M.R.S.A., the number of hospitalizations that involve M.R.S.A. increased from 188 in 1999 to 3,336 in 2006.
The number of M.R.S.A. related in-hospital deaths has increased each year from 1999 to 2006 in all ages.  The annual number of deaths rose from seven to 34 for children, from 350 to 1,000 for young and middle adults, and from 1,700 to 2,800 for senior adults.  The figures that I just presented to you from hospital data provide very good estimates in our opinion of the burden and trends of M.R.S.A. related hospitalizations in California.  They do not, however, include the likely thousands of minor M.R.S.A. cases treated on an outpatient basis. 

On the committee’s request, I will like to provide some context on the frequency of some reportable infectious diseases in California.  In gross comparison with other infectious diseases, M.R.S.A. infections are probably more common than most infectious diseases currently being reported including food-borne diseases or tuberculosis, but not as common as the common colds or flu which are not reportable, but due to the sheer overwhelming numbers of cases that we have every year.  Specifically, in 2006, for example, the most common reportable communicable disease in California was Chlamydia infection, a sexually transmitted disease with over 135,000 cases reported.  Over 64,000 cases of Hepatitis A, B, or C, and about 12,000 cases of food-borne bacterial infections including salmonellosis and others were reported in this year. 
Now what can be done for health care associated M.R.S.A.?  Let me briefly cover this.  In health care settings, M.R.S.A. and other multi-drug resistant organisms affect all patients and are primarily carried from one patient to another via the hands of health care personnel.  Those strategies to increase and monitor adherence to hand hygiene and correct glove use are very important components of M.R.S.A. prevention programs in hospitals and health care facilities.  M.R.S.A. also survives very well in the environment and health care worker contact with a patient ____ environment also plays a role in transmission leading to a form of isolation called contact precautions.

However, since there may be as many as 10 patients carrying health care associated M.R.S.A. for every one who is infected, isolating only those with infections is of limited value.  Testing patients for carriage of M.R.S.A. and placing them in isolation is more effective, but is very expensive and may not be feasible in all health care settings.  Professional health care societies and public health agencies have made guidance available for hospitals and physicians to manage and prevent M.R.S.A. in the health care setting.
Now for community associated M.R.S.A., where we know this proportionally affects otherwise healthy children, young adults, and injection drug users, particularly in settings that are crowded or with frequent skin contact such as correctional facilities, schools, and competitive sports.  For community associated M.R.S.A., the general principles of prevention include proper attention to personal hygiene, particularly hand washing, cleaning cuts and scrapes and keeping them covered with a bandage until healed, avoiding contact with other peoples’ wounds or bandages, and avoiding sharing personal items such as towels or razors.  Specific measures for those with community associated M.R.S.A. infections also include prompt diagnosis and treatment, proper wound care, and exclusion from certain activities when the lesions are actively draining.  

Now let me briefly cover some of the actions taken thus far by the California Department of Public Health.  The Department conducts surveillance and epidemiologic studies to identify risk factors that can be used to develop prevention guidelines.  We provide guidance and consultation on infectious diseases epidemiology, infection control and prevention strategies to local health departments, health care facilities, non-governmental agencies, and other state agencies.  The Department also gets involved in national collaborative efforts around M.R.S.A. and particularly epidemiology of M.R.S.A. and preventions such as the national CDC emerging infections program that conducts surveillance for invasive cases of M.R.S.A.  This is the study that you have all been citing from CDC that recently came on JAMA.  
The Department routinely leads outbreak investigations and supports local investigations of emerging pathogens such as M.R.S.A.  We frequently provide leadership in control of MRSA clusters, for example, in athletic teams and in schools and institutions.  We recently investigated an outbreak of boils due to community-associated MRSA in a long-term care facility and an outbreak of boils in a high school volley ball team.  

Over the last decade the Department staff presented information about the science, prevention, and treatment of M.R.S.A. and anti-biotic resistance bacteria at conferences for infection control practitioners and the state and local public health staff.  The Department has also worked with the Medical Board of California to increase awareness among physicians of the problem of community associated M.R.S.A. via their newsletter to all members.  
To permit an evidence based caution about M.R.S.A. reporting, the Department recently gathered information from states where M.R.S.A. is reportable.  Conducted a survey of California local health departments regarding locally mandated reporting of M.R.S.A. or community associated M.R.S.A. and held discussions with state, local public health, and hospital infection control partners on the pros and cons of making M.R.S.A. reportable statewide. 
Just in the past two months, the Department provided local health officers and local communicable disease controllers with a summary of recent scientific articles on M.R.S.A., current background on prevention and prevention guidelines, and developed for distribution by licensing and certification an all facilities letter on the management of M.R.S.A. in health care settings, and provided schools with guidelines on the prevention and management of community associated M.R.S.A. and these guidelines now are available  with the assistance of the Department of Education in over 30 languages throughout the state.

The Department will continue to educate the public about M.R.S.A. and its prevention.  A systematic health education approach is needed to deliver the information to specific audiences in a form they will access and can understand and to motivate them to take the desired action.  We have, we will be working with local health departments and many other partners in furthering this communication strategies.

Now let me briefly discuss the issue of whether or not M.R.S.A. should be reportable in California.  Surveillance of communicable diseases is a mainstay of public health, as you know.  This activity is a key step in determining the trend of diseases and it’s essential to developing and assessing prevention strategies.  Mandated reporting of diseases is one method of conducting public health surveillance in California.  In California there are currently 89 specific reportable conditions plus five other categories of outbreaks or unusual conditions.  The reporting of these conditions requires substantial resources by health care providers, hospital infection control practitioners, local health departments, and the California Department of Public Health.  Currently, the Department’s considering whether to add M.R.S.A. to the list and to that effect, we are identifying the best approach for the reporting of M.R.S.A. infection based on experiences from a few counties and states where M.R.S.A. or community associated M.R.S.A. is reportable. 
The options that we’re considering include reporting of all M.R.S.A. infections, reporting of all M.R.S.A. infections from sentinel sites, reporting of only invasive M.R.S.A. infections, reporting of only severe hospitalized community associated M.R.S.A. infections or deaths, or the possibility of no reporting.  So these are all things that we are currently evaluating.

For the reporting of health care associated M.R.S.A., the Department’s working collaboratively with the SB 739 mandated statewide health care associated infections advisory committee to determine the best method of conducting surveillance for health care associated M.R.S.A.  At their 11/29/07 meeting, a subcommittee was created that is composed of infection control practitioners, hospital epidemiologists, epidemiologists from the Department, local health departments, clinicians, academic centers, and consumer advocate, Ms. Moss.  Some of the committee members are M.R.S.A. experts with years of experience in reaching M.R.S.A., in researching M.R.S.A.  This committee is beginning to meet regularly and will report to the Department on its progressing determining how best to monitor health care associated M.R.S.A., including making recommendations about whether it should be made a mandatory reporting disease. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great, thank you.  Let me ask a brief question.  How many cases of M.R.S.A. did we have last year at the end of 2006?  

MR. CHAVEZ:  We have, from our, the information that I presented to you from hospital discharge data, which is the—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, just the, you’re the state.  How many, what’s the number?

MR. CHAVEZ:  We don’t have the total count of M.R.S.A. cases in the state.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, then this is my point.  If you don’t have the total count, then why do I have any confidence in anything you just told me?

MR. CHAVEZ:  You have the confidence that we are evaluating what is the best approach for us to look at the reporting—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  We're evaluating the approach to look at something.  How do we get past the evaluation of the approach to looking at something when our state auditor told your administration or the Administration since 2005 how to do that?  And gave you a deadline for it.  So how do we as a committee, an oversight committee then say, you know, given the time frame, given the extensions that have been asked for, given that we have reports that are now extended and due, I mean, how are we to have any confidence in how many cases we have.  Do we have any chickenpox cases we had last year?
MR. CHAVEZ:  Again, we know how many cases we have, but those diseases that are reportable—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Food-borne disease, we had a lot of hearings with the Administration on how many food-borne diseases we had.  We know the number.  I mean, these are all on your list.  And I’m wondering given that you’re evaluating whether or not this should be on your list, whether or not this gives us good information on which to act, meaning, being reportable.  You mentioned various categories of being reportable, but I’m just, I’m wondering why we’re, how long we’re going to debate that question and ultimately when we're going to have some conclusion for it being included on the list?  And I understand the difficulty in identifying it.  You’ve given us various levels, correct?
MR. CHAVEZ:  If I may respond.  We are actually very interested in making a determination about this.  We have only been working on this for the last couple of months.  We believe that we don’t want to make a decision about reporting that doesn’t inform, you know, the decision making process from the experience of other states that have had M.R.S.A. reporting for years, and even our own counties that have had it.  What we want to do is make sure that we end up with M.R.S.A. reporting that is going to give us the information that we need to develop more effective prevention strategies.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand, but why the hesitancy, what’s the hesitancy?  Why so long to decide?

MR. CHAVEZ:  Well, like I said, we don’t have any hesitancy.  I started working on this three months ago, and we're moving forward in consultation with our partners.  And we expect to make a decision very soon.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  How long did it take to put West Nile infection on the list?

MR. CHAVEZ:  I don’t know.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Did it take as long as we’re taking for something that probably is more prevalent than West Nile in terms of deaths and outbreaks and what everyone has termed here as an epidemic?  What was so fast about West Nile that allowed it to be put on the list and what makes this so slow?

MR. CHAVEZ:  Again, there’s different processes to make diseases reportable.  I think in this, I think West Nile virus ___ reportable through legislation.  I think we—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is that what it’s going to take?  I mean, I guess that’s what I’m asking.

MR. CHAVEZ:  Well, then that’s I’m responding.  I think based on our current process in trying to use our regulatory ways of making diseases reportable, we believe that we can make this reportable if the community feels that what is the best route to make it reportable fairly soon.  Again, the issue is that we have to have a balance between doing reporting that is going to be hundreds of thousands of cases of minor M.R.S.A. infections, such as boils, will really overburden the system including hospitals, infection control professionals to really get to those cases where we believe there’s the biggest yield for prevention.  You know, cases for example in previously healthy individuals that become very sick.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.  But, we make those decisions.  We make those decisions all the time in terms of what you might consider minor and very severe cases of or strains of M.R.S.A.  Let me give you an example.  You have on your list here diary of newborns.  I mean, I'm sure there’s, I mean, how do we do on that?   I mean, what do we think is minor, what isn’t minor?  Someone’s making decisions on everyday issues on an everyday basis, and they’re making some evaluation for it.  Counties are probably lead, correct?  I mean, at the end of the day, the counties ultimately will help us formulate a standard.  We have three counties in California already doing it.  And so, you know, then ____ be scratching their head and saying is the rest of the state going to catch up with us?  
I mean, so at some point, being reportable maybe, and you’re right.  What happens is, is that we get in a tug-of-war because we lend legislative.  Which we're probably going to do.  And, you know, because we’re going to wait forever for folks to kind of figure out ultimately what strain and what severity, and you know what?  Quite frankly with a bill that allows us to have that discussion on a given day, eight times in eight different committees before the Governor makes a decision on it.  And that forces discussion and many cases forces decisions that don’t roll and roll and roll in terms of deadlines.
Let me ask you, how long, you say you’ve been working on this for three months.  I mean, how long is the leadership within the Administration known about M.R.S.A.?  I mean they’ve gotta have, they must have known about it longer than three months.  

MR. CHAVEZ:  My comment about the three months was started evaluating the experience from other states, from other counties engaging our local partners in hospitals on what might be the best way to go about making M.R.S.A. reportable in California.  We’ve been working on this issue of M.R.S.A. longer than that and health care infections in general.  I think the report that was cited earlier that was released in 2005 was really a report that was done on our request, because we realized that health care infections were a problem and that we wanted to engage the community including physicians, hospitals, and partners to really look at how we can make a difference.  And I think that report was really the basis for SB 739 subsequently if you look at the content of 739 and the report, it really provides the tools for us to implement a lot of the aspects of that report that the Department actually requested, because we believe, again, on the fact then as we believe now that this is an important problem.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And again, you said you were evaluating other states in terms of what they’re looking at.  I mean, are we looking, is that, have they not solved it for us, or are we going to, California had some sort of other type of resident that has a different standard, or why isn’t the Tennessee standard good enough for California?

MR. CHAVEZ:  Oh, no, we’re not saying Tennessee’s standard isn’t good enough for California, but there are different states, we’ve talked to six for example, that have implemented reporting of M.R.S.A. in various ways from reporting all cases to reporting only severe cases to reporting only hospitalized cases.  And so what we’re interested about is, you know, what is really the most useful information that we can obtain to guide our prevention activities in California based on the experience from other states and the experience from counties. 
So certainly, we’ll make the determination that is best for the state, but we’re forming our decision based on science, based on the experience of our colleagues around the country.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And maybe what you can—can you give us a little, from your opinion on the money that got vetoed in terms of this?  Is this going to hurt our chances in terms of getting ahead of this or not from your perspective?  The monies that, the 1.3 million.

MR. CHAVEZ:   Well, the Department, again, thinks this is an important priority and we have redirected some resources to actually continue to evolve on our implementation of SB 739.   I mean, we, for instance, went ahead and convened a committee that is now functioning and working, and I think that committee which is statutorily mandated and outlines the types of folks that would be in that committee.  I think it’s working very effectively.  Some, there’s around these two tables, there are three members of that committee which includes—
SENATOR FLOREZ:  I understand.  Would the money have helped?  I mean, the money that the Governor vetoed from this program, I mean, would it have helped?  I mean, you’re saying you having to find money.  I mean, at the end of the day, I mean, we’re all trying to move forward in the same mode.  I mean, the Governor started with a bill, and we ended up defunding it at some point in time and we’re left with a task force.  I mean, would that have helped you in your efforts?

MR. CHAVEZ:  My response is that we believe this is an important enough priority that we are going to continue to move ahead with this even with stretching our own resources.  You know, we, again—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So you’re telling me despite the Governor, you’re going to go ahead and fund it anyway. 

MR. CHAVEZ:  Well, we are funding a program that we believe is important in terms of implementation of these activities.  We have convened a committee.  I think we are moving forward with the reporting according to what’s in the statute and the recommendations of the committee.  So, yes, we are redirecting resources to implement some of these early stages of SB 739.  The legislation calls for activities through 2009, so what we’re trying to do now is lay the foundation so that we can continue to move forward in working with hospitals.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And just so we’re fair in terms of the, for those who haven’t followed this, there was a much stronger bill of my colleague, Jackie Speier, in 2004, SB 1487.  It was vetoed by the Governor, and the Governor embraced SB 739.  And not to say one was better than the other, but one was better than the other, from my perspective.  And so, I, you know, I’m a little hesitant to say that even SB 739 isn’t going to take us across the finish line, but the funding which we’ve showed no propensity in the Legislature, to put in, is something that we, even in a tough budget year, we’ll look at very carefully if we’re saving $3 billion per year in terms of this particular issue.

Let me ask one more question from you, Doctor, if I could, in terms of the best practices.  It was mentioned in prior testimony that 1/3 of hospital acquired infections are preventable through the implementation of infection control programs.  What are we doing from the hospital point of view to make sure that that number, that 1/3 of these preventable types of infections are going to be lessened, if you will?

MR. CHAVEZ:  Well, I think there’s two things.  I mean, I think one of the, I think the very positive aspects of SB 739 is that it gives us the ability to actually ask hospitals to follow national guidelines in terms of what to do about prevention of health care infections.  So the first thing about it that I think is very critical is we cannot require hospitals to follow national guidance.  Secondly, it gave us the ability to actually go when we, the hospitals surveys and evaluate whether or not hospitals are complying with the requirement to follow these national guidelines for prevention of infections.  So, I think that SB 739 in fact will give us the ability to better monitor hospitals and whether or not they are following these prevention guidelines.  
Now currently, we also have the ability to actually go in hospitals and do periodic surveys for licensure and I think part of what was earlier was that we’re trying to work with our licensing and certification folks so that as they go into a facility, they also know that besides looking at general issues, they’re also looking at infection control issues, making sure that when the evaluation is conducted, they look at the infection control practices in that facility.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, and given that 739 you say, gives us the ability to do that, I mean, there was a report I think I had asked Ms. Cahill on CDC’s report on St. Agnos Hospital, and I asked her whether it was indicative of the cleanliness of the hospital, and I asked her whose report it was.  She said it was CDC’s.  So, Then where’s the state’s report?  I mean, if we have all this power under 739, where’s our report and what is our answer to that in terms of making this a better place?

MR. CHAVEZ:  First, in response to SB 739, when you look at the bill it has sequential dates when various aspects of the bill are to be implemented.  We’re not at the point where legally we can require hospitals to have these guidelines, but we will get ____.  But, let me respond—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, so that, but that kind of, I got it, but that kind of contra—I mean, you kind of told the committee ____ got this much better power over hospitals now, and then now you’re just telling me, but statutorily—

MR. CHAVEZ:  ____ we do, but we’re getting there sequentially, because we have to provide the guidance to hospitals and hospitals have to adopt them.  Now with regards to this report, this is an investigation actually that was conducted jointly by CDC and us, we, us, the county, the state, and CDC did the investigation ____.  We asked CDC to come over and work with us in doing this investigation, because they have more expertise in this particular type of ___.  So what happened here is that we went in, did an early investigation.  We felt that doing this in conjunction with CDC to really evaluate the full-fledged, infection control program in the hospital was very important.  
And so we did that, and this report actually reflects the finds from CDC that work closely with our folks as well as with the local health department’s folks.  And there’s also an ongoing investigation.  I don’t know the details of that by licensing and certification program in our department that will be looking at the issue of whether or not the hospital did in fact not abide by policy and procedures, and that’s ongoing so I cannot comment on that investigation.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Well, I mean, looking at the bill it allows you by January first which is, I don’t know, a week and a half away, to do everything that we need.  So in other words, we’re just in those, in that time frame, that gives you a little more power sequentially.  Is that what you’re referring to?

MR. CHAVEZ:  Right.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  I think that it’s for 739.  Let’s see if I have any other questions for you.  I think that’s it.  Thank you very much.  Appreciate the testimony.  Okay.  Let’s go to Kaiser.  Thanks for sitting with us.  We’re doing good on time.  We really are.

MS. ENID ECK:  I have some written testimony.  And thank you very much for the opportunity of speaking to this committee.  My name is Enid Eck.  I’m a registered nurse and I have a masters in public health.  And I am currently working for Kaiser Permanente Southern California Region as the regional director for infection prevention and control.

You can read and I had submitted my report in writing, so I’d like to start with just a bit of a story as similar to what Carole did.  There’s a wonderful example of a situation in which there are a number of individuals coming down a river falling over a waterfall and floating down the stream.  And there are two individuals standing on the shore watching this happen.  One of whom is a physician and he immediately jumps in the stream and starts pulling people out and doing CPR.  And that happens repeatedly over and over as bodies come down he pulls them out and does CPR.  Eventually, the second person that was standing there, he, the physician says, “You gotta help me.  This is like overwhelming and we can’t keep this up.”  And that individual says, “Well, I’m going up stream to find out why they’re falling in.” 

And I think that the opportunity that this committee has provided is truly an opportunity to help us look at upstream and find out why we’re falling in.  But, my concern would be that it’s going to be very easy to jump into the stream and try to pull out without the right answers.  And so I would just indicate that the situation that we have, MRSA is only one of many resistant organisms.  It got to be a resistant organism because of inappropriate use of antibiotics.  The public that goes to their doctor and demands an antibiotic because they got a cold.  That type of thing.  And that has gone on for the last couple of decades.  So we are in this situation partly by our own doing and we need to figure out all of the things that got us floating over the river so that we can stop the fall.
What’s happened now with the community strain of M.R.S.A. is at colleges and universities and correctional facilities, the general public as Carole reiterated, many times she did not know.  She had not heard.  She didn’t know.  Had she known, things would have been done differently.  Is not aware.  But, I would bring to your attention and I’ve identified it, several speakers have alluded to this, every single year, more people die of influenza and couple hundred thousand are hospitalized because of that.  And it’s something that we also are not paying attention to.  And your question about emergency preparedness, the risks associated within our level of preparedness for pan flu epidemic which are very real and very serious and we need to be looking at the whole spectrum of things.

There are a number of organizations many of which you have identified and are here and presenting, have been referred to and recommendations and guidelines are well published and provided to hospitals for implementation.  There isn’t a need for additional guidance on what to do.  There is a need for all of the elements to be supported in a variety of ways.  And I think that there are clearly some things that state agencies, as Dr. Chavez has already indicated, are in the position now to be able to do in support of hospitals that are trying to do their part in this.  But, there’s completely a community role that hasn’t been addressed, I don’t believe, as effectively as we could.  And that’s the upstream part of this.  Until that’s managed, we’re in the hospital setting going to be really challenged.

Within the organization that I represent, we have over 30-some hospitals in the state of California.  We have infection control programs at every one of our hospitals.  And the infection control professionals from those hospitals meet on a monthly basis.  On a quarterly basis we meet by video conference to network, leverage our learnings and experiences, provide standardization, reduce variability in what we’re doing all in an effort to try to reduce health care associated infections and have been successful in that in many, many areas.  But, again, if you look upstream where much of the MRSA is expanding completely uncontrolled, is within the community settings, some of which we’ve identified.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  I got it, but could one argue that while we’re while we’re waiting to find out upstream, you know, what the causes that we, you know, if you will, so many bodies continue to move through.

MS. ECK:  Oh, they have to be addressed, absolutely.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And given that you have the task force and you meet or talk about this—

MS. ECK:  Well, within our organization we meet on a monthly basis, our infection control professionals within our organization.  And I am a part of the advisory committee that Carole is a part of.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And is part of the upstream the cleanliness issue?

MS. ECK:  Part of the upstream is mostly hand hygiene.  It’s a big part of it.  And you made reference to that in part of your comments.  And so I do have a recommendation that I think that California could be precedent setting in, actually.  In terms of the emergency response and emergency preparedness, as was identified in earlier presenters, there are annual drills.  All of our hospitals do participate in that.  Many hospitals across the state.  Only recently have we looked at biological exposures and the managing of that and they’re clearly is an opportunity for the state agencies and county agencies to support that kind of drill and practice that would help us be better prepared.  
The recommendations that I would bring forward and due to the time, I’ll leave this for questions.  There are two things that the State of California has done unlike any other state in the country that has had significant impact on public health.  One is the concerted multi-agency work that we did around smoking.  The second is in relationship to what we’ve done as a state as it relates to drunk driving.  Both of those have dramatically improved the public health in this state.  And if this committee were to sponsor and support a multi-agency, strong, coordinated effort around hand hygiene, not just in the health care setting, but across the state in the public setting, every one of the speakers that’s a clinician that has talked about how M.R.S.A. is transmitted person-to-person has talked about it being from hands and contaminated surfaces.  And that’s just a real critical thing.  And with due respect, Senator, the understanding of how simple that is, and yet how critically important it is is just very difficult to convey.  So I think the amount of effort and time and energy that went into our smoking reduction and all of that work would be well spent on preventing not only M.R.S.A., but other resistant organisms within the community as well as the health care setting.

The other area that I think has gotten us into this position and that this committee could also really exercise some leadership around is increasing the appropriate use of antibiotics.  That’s a public awareness piece.  That’s a physician education piece.  That is an emergency preparedness piece.  There’s a number of elements to the use of antibiotics or the inappropriate use that has gotten us to where we are today.  And that’s something else that this committee could be very useful in sponsoring.
Dr. Chavez referenced some education materials that the Health Department has identified specifically for M.R.S.A.  We need that for all of the resistant organisms and how inappropriate antibiotic use leads to bacterial or microbial resistance.  We could become the clean hands state.  In sitting here in this short period of time and watching the three of you, each of you have coughed at some point or another into your hands and then touched a wide array of things that are up there.  It’s just making the invisible visible so we can actually deal with it.  Thank you for your time.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Let me just ask a question in terms of what hospitals can do.  I mean, do, are they performing active surveillance cultures on all admissions on selected patients? 

MS. ECK:  At this point, we are not.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, is that something you guys can do?

MS. ECK:  That Kaiser Permanente could do?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yeah.

MS. ECK:  It is something—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Given us something we can do.  Trying to give you something that you can do.

MS. ECK:  Absolutely, it is actually something that we are in the process of piloting.  Newer technology that’s a rapid testing.  The challenge that we have right now is the technology is changing very rapidly, as is the organism.  And so the implications of doing that kind of active surveillance what we are looking at is within a couple of our ICUs which would be targeted efforts.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Okay.  Great.  Thank you.

MS. ECK:  You’re welcome.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Appreciate that.  Okay, let’s go to the California Medical Association.  

DR. DEAN BLUMBERG:  Thank you.  My name is Dr. Dean Blumberg.  I work here in Sacramento at U.C. Davis Medical Center.  And I am also head of infection control at Shriner’s Hospital Northern California here in Sacramento.  And I’m testifying today on behalf of the California Medical Association.

I’m not going to read my written testimony which has been submitted, but what I’d like to first talk about is not just M.R.S.A. but go back a few years and talk about another organism of resistance concern that was prevalent in the community and that’s the resistant pneumococcus.  And the reason that this was important is pneumococcus is an organism that frequently causes common, community associated infections, including Titus media ear infections, sinusitis, pneumonia, bloodstream poisoning or sepsis, as well as meningitis, so for very common, mild infections to severe infections.

This was easy to treat with antibiotics.  Just melt it away with many commonly used antibiotics, until the 1990s where partly because of inappropriate use of antibiotics, this organism fought back and developed resistance.  And then I was seeing in my practice were children who had infections and these infections that used to respond to commonly used oral antibiotics didn’t respond any more.  So I can remember a child who was a year old and had an ear infection with this organism.  Went through a multitude of antibiotics, none of which worked.  This infection ended up spreading, in fact, the mastoid, the bone around the ear.  Rhis child had to be admitted to the hospital.  Had multiple surgical procedures and needed intravenous antibiotics.  

Now in response to this, there were several actions that were taken.  And one of the actions that was taken was by the California Medical Association Foundation, and it was the development of the AWARE project, the Alliance Working for Antibiotic Resistance Education.  And I think this serves as a nice model for cooperative work.  What this did was brought together with funding primarily from the CDC working closely with the then Department of Health, now Department of Public Health in California, working with several professional societies including American Academy of Pediatrics and others, working with health care providers such as Kaiser and pharmacists, as well as working with the public such as the PTA and the AARP to bring all these people to the table and say what can we do about this increasing problem with antibiotic resistant organisms causing these infections?  
And the fist thing that we did as part of the AWARE project was to figure out what the needs are.  And so we took a two-pronged approach looking both at the consumer side, why do people want so many antibiotics all the time?  What is the level of education about the organism, about preventative issues that may be undertaken, and about antibiotic use, and then look at the health care provider side and see what do they need?  How can they be better educated?  What can they do to help prevent these infections and deal with this problem?  
Well, we found some very interesting results and from the consumer side, we found that there was a lot of misinformation regarding antibiotics use.  A lot of misinformation regarding what preventative measures are useful.  And what we found in particular was that people who were members of racial or ethnic minorities were primarily non-English speaking had more educational needs that English speaking consumers.

And what we found from health care professionals was that there was still a need for education in this area, and the health care professionals wanted in language material to help educate their patients.  And so what came out of this was a tool kit and tools provided to health care providers including in language materials that they could use in their waiting room, or to give to their patients, as well as an educational outreach to the public, to the consumers to try to educate the consumers about how to prevent this infection, how to appropriately use antibiotics.  

Now what we found was that this educational effort appears to be working.  Of course, this doesn’t exist in a vacuum.  There’s other educational efforts out there, so it can’t say that this project is going to take full credit for all that.  But, it appears that in the periodic surveys in California that there is increasing educational levels about appropriate antibiotic use in California.  And it appears that with the help of several issues including a vaccine against pneumococcus, that levels of resistance are steady and maybe even dropping in California.  And there’s some graphs I’ve submitted with the written testimony in that regard.

Well, I’d like to then move forward from what we’ve done in the past to the present situation and we’ve heard about the epidemic of community-associated M.R.S.A.  Now from my practice in the hospital and with outpatient clinic, this is just exploded over the past several years.  And it’s just tragic to hear of cases like the Moss family and sadly, there’s other tragedies like that out there that I’ve seen myself where previously healthy children can get infected with this organism and when it causes pneumonia, it has virulence factors that eat away at the lungs and destroy the lungs.  And these children are fighting to breathe and they just can’t.  Oxygen doesn’t get there and so I’ve certainly seen patients, children, previously children, die from this infection.  As well as children who didn’t die, but ended up having severe infections such as infections of the bones causing clots, and these patients required multiple surgeries and multiple months of antibiotic therapy.  And then as Dr. Chavez also mentioned, there’s many patients who ended up getting mild infections, skin boils, or cellulitis.  It’s mild compare to the severe infections, but these infections get transmitted within a family over and over again.  Sometimes these patients, sometimes toddlers end up having multiple episodes of these boils being lanced.  It drives the parents just absolutely nuts.  It’s very frustrating.  

So this is out there.  I see this in my clinic every week.  And as part of the AWARE project, the AWARE project has recognized this as the next frontier and what we’re doing is taking the next step which is early next year convening a meeting of our partners and trying to assess what the needs of the health care providers are as well as the needs of the community.  We feel that there’s a lot of needs in terms of education out there.  And one of the areas that we’re particularly focusing in on based on our past experiences is non-English speaking communities.  And so there’s an active project looking at promotoras and assisting their help within the community and others.  Thank you.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.  Let’s end this panel, if I could, just so I get a good fit in terms of how this all, how we leave this very long panel, very insightful.  And I’ve asked some of you the question, but is there an epidemic and why don’t, the answer here was yes and yes, yes, yes.  Okay.  Alright.  So everyone’s in agreement with that.  Alright, well thank you all for your testimony.  And please submit, please submit with our sergeant, if you could, any testimony so we can get that into the record.  Thank you very much.

Let’s go to panel three, and as panel three comes up, I'm going to tell the next panel that I’m going to ask eight general questions and I’d like to, any of you would like to opine or you have written testimony, we’d like to have that submitted.  But, in order to keep time moving forward, I’d like to just see if I could ask the questions and you can give me your answers.  And if there’s anything I don’t ask, I’d surely like to have it for the record if that’s possible.

So why don’t we first start by introducing ourselves, and you know, we know Dr. Chavez already.  But, if we could start here and I’ll ask some questions and we’ll go from there.

MS. BONNIE KOLESAR:  Good morning.  My name is Bonnie Kolesar.  I’m assistant secretary, Office of Risk Management with CDCR.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, great.

MS. JOYCE HAYHOE:  Joyce Hayhoe, assistant secretary, Office of Legislation with the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.

MS. LINDA DAVIS-ALDRITT:  Senator Florez, I’m Linda Davis-Alldritt, school nurse consultant with the California Department of Education.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great, okay.  And Dr. Chavez.

MR. CHAVEZ:  We’ve met.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Yes, we’ve met.  Let me just ask a general eight questions, if I could, for the record.  And that way we can just get your opinions on them.  If you don’t have an opinion on them, we’ll go onto the next.  How many incidents, infections of this sort have occurred in the institutions that you oversee?  And that, obviously we have schools and prisons here.  Maybe just kind of—do we know?  And maybe we can get that on the record.  And please identify yourself so we can make sure the transcript ___ reflected.  
MS. KOLESAR:   We have no automated program that can identify incidents and I’m not quite certain how you are defining incidents, but I’m going to assume, you know, that’s, you know, an employee files a complaint or workers’ comp claim.  But, we’ve submitted for the record some information on recent occurrences within CDCR, and as a result of that, we’ve manually extracted information from our employee information to workers’ comp, and from 2006 through 2007, we have 15 reported incidents in the employee side of things.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you.  

MS. HAYHOE:  She covered it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Anyone?  Schools?

MS. DAVIS-ALDRITT:  The, as the California Department of Education, Linda Davis-Aldritt, we do not collect that data from the schools.  The schools no longer have to send us information on on excuses absences.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Alright, that’s something to look at.  Okay, any trends that you’re seeing in terms of what we’re talking about, M.R.S.A. today?

MS. KOLESAR:  None that we can ascertain.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in the management and the administration of these emergency health plans, are those surfacing up to folks like yourselves or are they starting from the top down for M.R.S.A.?

MS. HAYHOE:  In terms of emergency health plans, our department has proactively put together our own emergency health plan working with OES.  That emergency health plan was reviewed recently by OES.  We are in the process right now of incorporating the comments that we got back from OES on our institutional emergency health plan.  

In addition, we have institutions that all are responsible for having their individual emergency health plan.  And when we go out and audit through our Office of Audits and Compliance, we ensure that that health plan is in place and is updated.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  And are there, in terms of the emergency preparedness plans, are there drills or exercises that you’re part of in terms of this particular issue?

MS. HAYHOE:  Absolutely.  We took place, we had a pivotal role in the Golden Guardian exercise in 2006.  This year in conjunction at the same time that Golden Guardian was happening in 2007, we did an exercise at the Dual Vocational Institute in Tracy where we did an exercise on what a pandemic occurrence would result in with our institution.  
As a result of that exercise, we came up with three pages of recommendations on things that we needed to look at with regard to any kind of emergency response at our institutions.  We’re in the process right now of trying to incorporate those in our emergency plans and also have learned a lot of good lessons in that exercise such as the Department would need to understand that in some kind of exercise of this magnitude, we may not be able to, we may be on our own a lot in terms of what would happen in an institution.  We can’t rely on for instance, local hospitals who may be involved at the same time because of a surge of inmates.
We understand now we have to look at what staffing would happen if we had an outbreak that also resulted in our staff being infected.  So we’ve gotten a lot of good information from that.  

Lastly, we have plans, again, to work with OES on the golden Guardian exercises for 2008.  We’ll play a pivotal role on that.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.

MS. DAVIS-ALDRITT:  Linda Davis-Alldritt, California Department of Education.  It’s in my written information that we sent to Chris Lindstrom, but the California Education Code does require that every school have a safe school plan in place that’s reviewed annually.  And we have as a department, for the last several years, encouraged school districts to include in that plan information and preparation to respond to public health emergencies, particularly pandemic.  
The state superintendent did a press conference of September, 2006, reminding schools of that.  We also collaborated with the California Department of Public Health on a web cast on pandemic that included tabletop exercises, and that was broadcast to all areas of the state and school districts and county offices of education were encouraged to participate in that and anecdotally, many of them have reported back that they have done those tabletop exercises since with staff.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  The last question I have, if I could, just a general sense of, if you will, the line of command in terms of institutions, if there is a quarantine, for example, or if some of these, these table top exercises are through pandemic or giving us the same model for this M.R.S.A.  Is that it?  Okay.  Okay.  That’s all I have.  

Let’s go to the last panel and I have more questions for this panel.  This is the reason I’m trying to—designating emergency response agencies’ role and responsibilities.  We have David Zochetti, General Counsel, Office of Emergency Services; Betsey Lyman, deputy director, Department of Public Health; and Gil Chavez, who is up again with us.  Thank you very much.
Just so you know from the audience perspective, we will try to wrap up this last panel by 1:30, so I’m sorry.  And there’s one more panel after this, but we’re going to try to wrap this up around 1:30.  So let me try to get through some of these questions if I could.  Let’s make that 1:45, okay, because that way we can divide even time here.  
Just in general for the panelists’ perspective in terms of various phases of preparedness, response, recover, and mitigation, public health emergencies, how are these coordinated?  Is this a bottom-up approach?  Is it top-down?  I mean, maybe, anyone, just give me a perspective.

MR. DAVID ZOCHETTI:  Maybe if I could start.  David Zochetti, Office of Emergency Services.  Thank you, Chairman.  Like with all emergencies, a public health emergency would initially be managed from the bottom up, which of course leads to the question of who’s in charge in terms of what phase of the emergency.  The local public health officer, of course, and my partners here on the panel can speak more to that, would be in charge at the local government level dealing with the public health emergency.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay and is there a time the state can, in essence, assume authorities from the local when we have something like this in terms of a public health issue?  Is that, the Governor have to declare a state of emergency for that or do we ever do that, or is it just not within the model of how we deal with these?
MR. ZOCHETTI:  Well, there’s really two pieces to that.  As I think we’re both queuing up here.  I mean, the governor in those extraordinary circumstances can, yes, basically supersede, if you will, local authority, but also within the public health aspect, there’s a similar authority.

MS. BETSEY LYMAN:  Yes, Mr. Chairman and committee staff, I’m Betsey Lyman from the Department of Public Health.  There is statutory authority in the state that addresses outbreaks of communicable disease and control of them.  It does not require that there be an emergency declaration in order to use that authority.  It has been used in California for many, many years.  The local health officer has extensive authority to take necessary action to control the spread of communicable disease.  The State Department of Public Health has the same authority and the State Department of Public Health has authority to direct or if necessary, take over for a local health department if they’re not carrying out appropriate actions.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, and given that we have, who in the line of movement or restriction of movement of people in this type of an incident, who’s in charge?

MS. LYMAN:  The local health officer has the authority to issue a quarantine order.  That includes both quarantine placing somebody in restricted location as well as moving them.  Once that order is issued, then it would be a peace officer’s responsibility to enforce it if there were any challenges to doing so.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And who orders that, again, I’m just, so I’m clear.

MS. LYMAN:  It’s the local health officer.  The state health department can do the same thing if necessary.  And if a local health officer is addressing a quarantine in a neighboring jurisdiction outside their own jurisdiction, then the state health department does have to be involved.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And who establishes the rules of engagement if there is a breach to a quarantine area or a refusal to evacuate an area?  Is that local law enforcement?

MS. LYMAN:  It is peace officer responsibility to do so.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And do we have adequate laboratory space, capacity around the state in order to deal with, if you will, some of these issues?

MS. LYMAN:  Well, adequate depends on the emergency.  You know, from the perspective of my office, we and with Dave and the Department of Public Health, we’re always looking at all emergencies.  So it would depend on what it was.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How about the category of catastrophic?

MS. LYMAN:  Excuse me?

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How about the category of catastrophic, meaning more than 250,000.

MS. LYMAN:  Catastrophic would definitely be challenging, but one of the issues that you get to in laboratory is when you get to a certain point, you need to continue testing if you have, you know, identified that it’s everywhere.  But, I would prefer that Dr. Chavez speak more specifically, because specific questions about laboratory testing.

MR. CHAVEZ:  I, you know, there are a number of laboratories in local public health departments throughout the state that have different levels of capacities.  So we’ve created what’s called a laboratory response network that actually identifies, you know, what laboratories can support other laboratories depending on the level of testing that you have to do.  Then our state public health laboratory which has two key laboratories for infectious diseases, a microbial diseases laboratory, and a viral diseases laboratory, actually has the highest level of reference testing in the state, and so we work very closely with local health departments in terms of handling specimens that are not being tested at the state level, or that we need to do our reference testing.  And ultimately we have a relationship with CDC as well, so that we can also use the CDC laboratory as a last reference.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  And in terms of inventories and supplies, there’s a surge or any of these issues, that is a redundant system so it allows us to continue to have those or how does that work?
MS. LYMAN:  Again, this depends on the extent of the issue.  You may recall, Senator, that in the 2006-2007 budget and it was mentioned here in the first panel, there was a considerable funding of surge supplies for the state’s share of federal anti-virals for some N95 respirators for ventilators, and for supplies to set up 21,000 alternate care site beds outside of hospitals.  On the other hand, in a pandemic, our computer modeling based on CDC information is that probably would get us perhaps 50 percent of the way toward what the need might be beyond what hospitals can currently handle.  

If it is a regional event, California has been fortunate that we’ve been able to move supplies from medical supplies from one region to another.  We have a strong relationship with the Centers for Disease Control around the strategic national stock pile should it be necessary to bring that into California.  But, today we know that most communities and medical facilities have a small supply and we have various provisions beyond that.  If it was a truly catastrophic, state-wide event, we definitely would need to turn outside the state. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Have we, are we modeling that or have we actually run an exercise on that?

MS. LYMAN:  Well, we have exercised the strategic national, bringing the strategic national stockpile into California considerably, and in November CDC actually delivered supplies here so we had the experience of the California highway Patrol meeting the vehicles, the trucks at the Nevada-California border escorting them to a warehouse where we did work on breaking them down and then redistributing and shipping them out to the local level.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Do we know how many health emergencies or epidemics we’ve actually had in California in terms of how we actually responded beyond models?
MS. LYMAN:  We have always, you know, outbreaks are an ongoing event, particularly at the local level.  Many of them, again, and I’ll refer this to Dr. Chavez, many of them get handled at the local level without state intervention.  We have dealt with, we participated actively in the Southern California wildfires in October, and our shellfish program was involved in the response to the oil spill in the Bay Area.  So we really do have a continuing set of circumstances both large and small that we’re responding to on a daily basis.  You want to add anything about outbreaks?

MR. CHAVEZ:  Yeah, I just wanted to comment.  You know, I think when it comes to infectious disease outbreak, they happen all the time.  I can tell you that in every single week, we are involved either directly or supporting a local health department on infectious disease outbreaks.  So at least they’re not uncommon, they’re very regular.  And, you know, the full gamut of infectious diseases out there.  I think one of the things about dealing with outbreaks is that when we do a good job, nobody hears about it, because we go, we do the investigation, we have control measures and take care of the situation.  And that happens, you know, most of the time.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Let’s, if we could, go to the auditor’s report just so I can get the status you’ve heard.  We talked about the disaster medical response plan in ’92 and then the medical mutual aid plan in ’74.  And we heard about time frames.  Can you give us an update in terms of—

MS. LYMAN:  Yes, actually, I would like to do that, because the Emergency Medical Services Authority did issue both of those plans in September, and they are on the EMSA website.  The auditor also talked about the assessment report of the local health department assessments, and we did send that to her office in November, and we did get an acknowledgement when we sent it over there.  So I know it’s a big department.  

The third one that came up during her testimony was the issue of fiscal status of expenditure of the federal reports.  And there is a state statute that requires the Department of Public Health and the Office of Homeland Security to submit an annual report summarizing the fiscal status each February.  We began that when the statute was passed in 2005.  Submitted one, 2006, and we’re working on the 2007 report now.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  In terms of the spending of funds, I think we talked about the monitoring of when funds are available and those are actually being spent.  How do we decipher through that?

MS. LYMAN:  I’m not sure I understand your question, but we, there is an existing—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How do we know the benchmarks that we’ve set with the money that we’ve given have been met?

MS. LYMAN:  We have a requirement that’s been in existence since the beginning of the federal grants to California that the local health departments submit reports to us periodically.  And we’ve required both a narrative progress report and a fiscal report twice a year.  The state statute that the Legislative Analyst talked about was enacted because we were not doing onsite financial audits.  And so that was what we’ve got started starting at the beginning of this year.  We are now doing financial audits of the local health department use of these funds.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And we also add some discussion about the Golden Guardian exercise and what would you say in terms of this particular topic, M.R.S.A., as it being inclusive of this or is this just pandemic types of drills and are they different?  I mean, ultimately, pandemic and this and in terms of a mass scale for M.R.S.A.  Can you give me a comparison on how we are including it and what can one say?
MS. LYMAN:  In California, we do drills and exercises constantly.  For example, this morning, my office did an exercise with what we call our backup department emergency operation system to make sure that all the telecommunications equipment redundant four deep was working.  That’s done once a month and once a quarter for a special exercise.  Local health departments do exercises on a continuous basis, some of them relatively small drills, others of them like Ventura last spring ran a 24-hour exercise to, you know, assuming a scenario of a catastrophic local event.

Statewide there are medical and health exercises that are done once a year, that is every hospital and health department are invited to participate in.  And we have, and the EMSA runs the annual rough and ready where they actually experience moving casualties out of a pseudo affected area.  Golden Guardian has been something that we have participated in every year at the state level with the local health departments that have chosen to participate, and that has been optional.

We are at the point now of planning significant more exercises for a pandemic, and probably given the nature of what has been recommended both by our partners at the local level and other state agencies, as well as by our federal grant requirements, will occur probably in early 2009 around a very large scale functional exercise on pandemic.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So we haven’t tested it then.

MS. LYMAN:  We have done lots of smaller tests, regional tests, local tests and we have done a variety of exercises both table top and small functional exercises at the state level, but there’s more testing to be done.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, but is it fair to say that we haven’t sufficiently tested the medical and health response systems given that ____.

MS. LYMAN:  Well, that’s something, Senator, that we talk a lot about.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Because you mentioned that those who choose to do it, it is an option, so I mean, you know, those who choose and those who want to option in, I mean, it doesn’t sound like, I'm sure that all departments are very busy and they say, well, you know, I think this year we want to do Golden Guardian, just because we have the extra time.  I mean, it sounds as though this optional in choosing or opting in isn’t necessarily going to give us the best reflection of a good test particularly when it comes to medical and health response systems.

MS. LYMAN:  I mislead you on the choosing part. They do not have a choice as to whether—
SENATOR FLOREZ:  I’m just using the word you used.

MS. LYMAN:  You did.  You did, you used my word.  But, they do not have a choice as to whether they exercise.  They have a choice as to which exercises they participate in.  For example, a hospital in order to maintain its accreditation under the Joint Commission must do a couple of exercises a year.  Some of them do it as part of the state medical and health exercise, some of them do it on their own.  That’s what I was referring to.  And I wasn’t clear on that.

The same thing with local health departments.  They have had requirements for a couple of years as part of their receipt of CDC grant funds that they conduct exercises.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  okay.  Okay.

MS. LYMAN:  I should say, Senator, that we estimate, I mean, our count recognize that we may not have every local exercise, but just local health departments over 100 exercises have been done in the last year.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  OES, you’re very silent here, so let me ask you the question.  Ultimately, there’s commitment to allow public medical and public health systems within this, with OES within your jurisdiction, within your design, or is this simply a hand off to public health?
MR. ZOCHETTI:  No, I think there’s a serious commitment.  I think the distinction that’s important to make, and it’s not just with public health, it’s with a lot of disciplines.  I mean, in the way we’ve structured our system in California is those with the expertise and statutory authority take the lead for that particular aspect of the emergency.  But, seldom do these types of things happen in isolation.  You know, in many cases you won’t have the public health emergency, if you will, in isolation of other things.  You could have an earthquake going on, you could have the wildfire going on.  You could have a number of different things going on during the public health emergency or exacerbating the public health emergency.
So what basically what our office does, what the system provides, essentially, over our chain of management, if you will, of the overall emergency or disaster response which public health or fire or law enforcement would just be as aspect of the overarching response. 

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  But, the word, “medical response”, or medical mutual aid is, interplays with OES.  I mean, is that ingrained within your organization or is this, again, you just look to your right on this point and say, what do we do here?  We’re not in charge.  We, you know, I mean—

MR. ZOCHETTI:  No, it’s very much ingrained, and you know, the issue of—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  How do I, where do I, how do I know that?  Where do I see that?  Where?

MR. ZOCHETTI:  Well, I think you see that is is for example, it was mentioned a few moments ago—
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Is it in the statutes?  Is it something that’s worked out on a, I mean, how do—

MR. ZOCHETTI:  Why, I think there’s two things.  If you look at the statutory issue, it’s OES’s statutory authority to basically be, if you will, in charge.  Small emergencies is inclusive.  It doesn’t carve out medical or health or just about anything else.  So it’s very clear.  And then just more practically as part of fulfilling that mission at OES working with all our partners like Public Health, we are very much engaged in the development of their plans and the reviews of their plans, you know, all the exercises they’re participating in, more often than not, so is our staff.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And tell me about Homeland Security dollars and OES as it interplays with getting more funds to Dr. Chavez.  Can we do that, or does he have to dig through his budget to come up with the 1.3 million that was vetoed?
MR. ZOCHETTI:  I’m not an expert on Homeland Security funds.  That’s what’s under the auspices of the Office of Homeland Security.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But, you guys were supposed to talk to each other per our last hearing, so, okay.

MR. ZOCHETTI:  Well, we absolutely do, as do they with the Department of Public Health.  I think the issue is is all the federal funds, as you are aware, come with certain strings attached.  And for the Homeland Security funds, the string is typically attached, it has to be related to the terrorism aspect of Homeland Security.  Now I think the good news there is we’ve been able to leverage a lot of that funding including Department of Public Health in order to leverage some of that funding that’s initially focused on terrorism, but it has the ancillary benefit of improving all public health emergency response.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And tell me about county plans, if you will, country emergency plans.  I mean, we’re supposed to be reviewing those.  We, the auditor tells us 35 out of the 58, or something of that sort.  Last where we left off, I mean, ultimately, when we do review those, we do have the database.  It’s all in place.  They are updated.  The data base supposed to tell us when they’re updated.  At the end of the day, what does that provide us?  What’s the exercise for and ultimately, what does that give us when it comes to these types of public health types of emergencies?

MR. ZOCHETTI:  Well, let me just maybe start on it, and then Public Health can kind of build on this issue, is, you know, our office is involved in reviewing and improving the local disaster plans in every single jurisdiction in the state has.  We’re on approximately a three-year review cycle of all those plans.  All the 58 county disaster plans have been reviewed by our office and right now, as the auditor indicates, we’re populating the database.  I think where that’s key is those overarching disaster plans are kind of the core planning tool for local government.  Each of those plans has a public health component that then we require that integrates with all their other public health, be it for pan flu or whatever other types of public health contingency be integrated into those core plans.  So those core plans really set the context for how local government does their operation, and then there’s further details in other plans required by public health and others.

MS. LYMAN:  Yes, we require the local health departments to make sure that they have a public health response plan.  We also require specific plans in other areas.  Two of the ones that most noticeable are that they have a plan for receiving and distributing assets from medical supplies and pharmaceuticals from the strategic national stockpile.  And in October we required that they submit to us a local pandemic influenza plan, and we are in the process of completing the reviews on all of the local plans on those.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  That’s all I got.  Thank you very much.  Dr. Chavez, thanks for sitting through couple hours.  Thanks.  Appreciate it very much.

Okay, let’s go to Panel 5—“Local Partners and Volunteers”.  Rick Martinez.  We should just get him a chair for the committee.  Thanks for being here again.  Karen Tait, Greg John, Captain Doug Riley, Ken Cavallero, and John Madigan.  Thanks for joining us.  Won’t keep you long.  I’m still trying to keep our schedule.  ____ have general questions for the panel, and if you have some testimony or would like to say a few things, we’d appreciate it, as well.  So I don’t know how we start or where we want to start, but if anybody, does anybody have a written testimony they’d like to start with?  Okay.  
Well, why don’t we start with a just a perspective.  Then if I could, you heard me mention a moment ago that where we’ve seem to have come to conclusion that health emergencies are coordinated in the same manner as all emergencies.  And I guess the first question I have for you is that correct?  Because, that’s, we hear that from the state, we hear it from the feds.  I mean, is that still the standard when it comes to health emergencies?  It’s ____ as any other emergency and we just fall, proceed in that way?
MR. RICK MARTINEZ:  Mr. Chairman, Rick Martinez, Sacramento County.  Thank you for the opportunity to address here.  I know you’ve been going for quite some time, so I’ll attempt to be brief.  I think Mr. Zochetti summarized quite well, the relationship at the state level which we actually model at the local level.  The fact of the matter is the discipline having the not just the jurisdiction, but having the expertise really has the lead in all emergencies.  It’s really not too different.
The one thing I did want to address, though, to cut it to the chase—you asked a question a minute ago with respect to the planning process, and the fact that, you know, the OES does come through and check supplies.  They have a process every three years, and your question was really specific, what does that provide us?  Well, I think planning is a necessary part of a conscious contemplation of what we should do.  However, and we should plan, we should have adequate, up-to-date plans.  But, realistically, where the proof is in the pudding, is through a demonstrated competency.  Can we deliver on what’s in the plan?  Do the folks that need to carry out the plan know their job and do they have the competencies necessary to make that happen?  And I think the only way I know of and I’m sure there’s many more is that through some demonstrated capacity, generally exercises, and in some cases, active incidences.

And so one of the key elements is an appropriate corrective action plan.  In other words, once you should do realistic exercises, then once you do that, and/or if you have an actual incident to develop a corrective action plan that adequately addresses your shortfalls.  And we’ve had this discussion before.  I know there are issues, but really, from my firsthand experience is that’s really where the proof in the pudding’s going to be.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of quarantine, movement of folks that falls within the same types of categories, the local will make a decision and ultimately will be carried out by law enforcement?

MR. MARTINEZ:   Correct.  And I can lead that to Dr. Tait, but I can tell you as our deputy public health officer in Sacramento County, that the fact of the matter is as I know, and I’ve been involved more on the periphery on that, but we have had instances within our county in which the health officer has issued some form of quarantine for an individual, group of individuals and is supported by law enforcement and the other agencies appropriate.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  And, Dr. Tait, is that the—how does one come to that decision?

DR. TAIT:  Yes, well we individualize our decisions in terms of effecting any kind of formal public health order, but we do recognize that as our local responsibility.  And we have been doing a great deal of planning over the past several years in terms of how to actually enforce those orders.  So we’ve had very good cooperation from our local law enforcement, discussed tactics including use of force, methods of communication, and have exercised and trained in actually carrying those types of orders out, as well as having real events.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Let me, beyond the restriction movement of people in quarantines, let me ask some of our non-profit, Salvation Army and others, I mean, in terms of being, if you will, having the ability to have ample supplies and these types of things.  I mean, what are we, do you fell confident that in this that we’re where we should be?  Anyone can answer that, Salvation Army or anyone.  Anyone.
MR. KEN CAVALLERO:  
I’m Ken Cavallero.  I’m the disaster coordinator for Northern California and Nevada headquartered here in Sacramento.  We have response teams scattered all over California and every one of our facilities.  We are capable of doing food delivery, preparation, things along those lines.  But, our main concern is that our folks are not trained in responding into a hazardous area, nor are they equipped to.  And we’re not so sure we want them in that position liability-wise right now.  

So, are we confident in being able to supply if we have the supplies with us?  We could supply to the outside areas to the point of the hot zone, and somebody else would have to transport in at that point in time.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  So training and liability issues are still at the forefront.

MR. CAVALLERO:  Very much so, yes.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Anyone else on that?

MR. GREG JOHN:  Greg John with Red Cross.  Similar to the Salvation Army, supplies are not so much the issue in a medical emergency or health.  Our primary asset to the support of this system is in the educational component, preparedness, telling the people what to look for and how to cope before they get involved with the illness.  

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of the communications during a health emergency—confidence that the state and our current system is working, workable, helpful?

MR. MARTINEZ:  The only, I would say with respect to communication that I think we need to continue to reinforce and that is California has had the lead in standardized emergency management system, SEMS.  And the state pattern, NEMS, after SEMS.  And one of the things that gets to be a little more problematic during a particularly a health emergency is a prime example is that the communication chain, because of the way we’re established and because of the effectiveness of structure, is that we continue to go down through the appropriate agencies, and in our case it comes from California Office of Emergency Services down to the local operational area.  And to be mindful of that so we don’t have a parallel chain that runs outside.  On occasion, our health officers, local health officers will be tapped and directed by state agencies, and that puts us in an awkward spot when we’re planning our resources at a local level to deal with an incident.
So I’d just like to advocate that we continue to reinforce SEMS as we know it in California.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  No, I got that.  In terms of the communication system with hospitals and those types of providers for medical emergencies, are we also adequate in terms of—

DR. TAIT:  I think I can speak to that.  Karen Tait, again.  We, I think, has established much stronger communications over the past few years with our local hospitals.  We have enrolled in all in the California health alert network system, as well as having emails for the contact with them and telephone and deal with them on a regular basis.  So in an emergency, we feel quite confident that we would be able to reach hospital personnel quite easily.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  And in terms of mass inoculations, these types of things that we’re training for these as public health officers, and law enforcement working with—

DR. TAIT:  Yes, we are.  We have done a number of exercises to practice plans that involve mass prophylaxis of some sort, whether it be pills or vaccinations.  Recently we did an exercise in a large full-scale, limited full-scale exercise involving volunteers and first responders.  We’ve delivered prophylaxis to on-duty law and fire responders, as well as large numbers of the general public.  
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  So that first responders can also get trained and would understand this.  I know Yolo County has a pandemic portion of it where they use veterinarians and these folks you might want to . . .

DR. JOHN MADIGAN:  Yeah, maybe I could comment.  Thank you.  I’m Dr. John Madigan, from the School of Veterinary Medicine.  I’m a professor of medicine epidemiology.  And I’m here with Dana Henderson from Yolo County Health Department who has been their outreach specialist.  And we’ve been working together, because we look at the numbers as the public health people described their goals of vaccinating 40, 50,000 people in 48 hours in the event of vaccine becoming available that the logistic ability to deliver the vaccine or immunize people and those kind of things, really, there’s a limit to what can be done with number of human medical personnel.

So, veterinarians have all the training in how to handle vaccines.  We conduct rabies clinics and testimony, I won’t go through it, but I do have written testimony about the capability of veterinarians.  And we think _____ should be a component of public health responders.  Seven thousand veterinarians in the state of California.  Have about 4,000 animal health technicians that know how to immunize and can be very briefly, you know, trained and oriented.  And that could be done through the Medical Reserve Corps which I think is just coming online now through the California Emergency Medical Services Authority.  Has a plan, but does not yet include veterinarians on the California medical volunteers statewide database.  So we’re hoping by setting this up in Yolo County.  And we had a practice clinic that the Yolo County people organized it.  Dana Henderson put on and we helped participate in that.  And we hope to share ideas on how to use some, pardon the term, but herd health, approaches to large scale immunization as we do in veterinarian medicine when we have large groups of susceptible animals at risk and have to provide vaccination in a very timely fashion. 

So we’ve had a nice cooperative arrangement in Yolo County, and hope to have further drills and practices to integrate veterinarians into that response.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  But, most of the drills and practices have taken place at the local level.  Have you been involved, anyone, in the state run types of medical emergency exercises?  No?  Okay. 

DR. MADIGAN:  Ours have been in the county level.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay. 

DR. TAIT:  Yeah, we do participate in the statewide exercise as local entities generally.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Just a last question.  And if there’s anything else you’d like to add, I’d sure like to hear it.  And we would like your written testimony if you have it, except for Rick’s.  I know he always writes his as he’s sitting in the back.  So, in terms of the public, and I think this is maybe the portion, I mean, what should the public be doing in order to prepare in the event of an outbreak?  I mean, education has been talked about from the state level, but I mean, what, maybe some recommendations or thoughts you may have on that question.  It’s probably the hardest question, so I mean, and anyone can jump in.  Go ahead. 

DR. TAIT:  I think public preparedness in all respects, not only communicable disease or health emergencies, but any kind of emergency, the real key to success is having public preparedness and as much self-sufficiency as possible.  So from the standpoint of the local level, it’s a very large task for us to undertake, because we have a very large population that we have been making our effort to use citizen volunteers to do neighborhood training, as well as to use media productions that we’ve developed some efforts to produce our own messages locally so that we can expand our sphere of influence by reaching the neighborhoods and the professional community.  But, that really is a major, major priority in all respects, because most solutions really come with what individual people do.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Great.  Yes.

DR. MADIGAN:  Well, one aspect of that is the, from the veterinarian point of view, we found that studies have shown that people won’t evacuate without their animals.  So part of our planning in veterinarian medicine is to educate the public with regard to how to evacuate and bring their pet and also then coordinate shelters and things so that there won’t be the hesitation to remove themselves from harm’s way.
And our message is not to count on government to bring you water and food, but to be self reliant.  And those with the animal owners, that’s been based on the evacuation.  There were no burned horses in southern California, per se, because of the individual animal ad hoc evacuation that they undertook.  And so I think that, to me, was a good example that personal preparedness is central theme that we push for the animal side of things.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Alright.  Thank you all.  Rick ___

MR. MARTINEZ:  And this is not in my area, but just food for thought—one of the things that I’ve seen in the past is the difficulty in bringing assistance from outside the local area, particularly a state area due to credentialing issues.  So I would imagine in the medical field that could be a problem ____ with, if you ever had a widespread incident that you’d need other medical folks from outside the area.  So anything that the state could do working with the federal government or whoever it would be appropriate to ensure that that transition of folks coming from other states to assist us would be, I think, important to our success.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay.  Yes.

MR. CAVALLERO:  Just one last thing from the Salvation Army, in that we are a vital agency when it does, when we do respond to disasters.  And notification of our agency is always, a lot of times we have to prompt the invitation to be a part of that.  so maybe the urging of the counties to write us into their disaster plans, health plans, put us on an early notification list for response.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Great.  Thank you all for sitting through this, particularly, thank you.  It’s hard to be the last panel.  Before we adjourn, let me say that hopefully a transcript will be done, completed for this particular hearing.  I do want to, if I could, tell Carole Moss and her husband that this is something that we’ll stay with.  This isn’t a one-day hearing.  And there’ll be a transcript and my guess is that just sitting here listening to this is that we will probably mandate a standard for this being reportable, period.  And then we’ll debate it in committee.  And we’ll have everyone come in and make a decision, and then we’ll go from there.

Let me also say that at the end of the day this is, there’s a lot of components of this that need to be solved still.  There’s a lot of things that we need to be caught up on.  and I kind of like the doctors’ group that has been mentioned as a much bigger sounding board than yourself as one person among a board of 29 very interested folks that may not, you know, are interested in change, but sometimes change is costly, and therefore, nothing happens.  And so we may want to get, if you will, with our doctors and see how that organization that they mentioned as a model to look forward, as well.  But, there’s a lot of things that we hopefully can talk, continue to talk about after the hearing.  
Before we adjourn, if there’s anybody would like to give some public comment, that would be that time.  And come on up.  And if you can all come up at this point in time, that would be great.  Now we know when to end this.  Come on up.  Thank you.  Thanks for sitting through this.  Appreciate it.

MS. BETSY IMHOLTZ:  My name is Betsy Imholtz.  I’m special projects director for Consumers’ Union, non-profit publisher of Consumer Reports.  And we thank you, Senator, for calling attention to this important issue and for our opportunity to testify.  I know you have written testimony from us, and so I’ll just keep this brief.
Since 2003, Consumers Union has had a national campaign to stop hospital infections, and especially focused on disclosure laws as a strategy, a key strategy for eliminating infections.  We’ve heard infections cause nearly, hospital acquired infections nearly 100,000 preventable deaths nationwide.  And estimates ____ about 9,000 a year in California alone.  And as we’ve heard earlier, they cost about $3 billion, add $3 billion to the health care system in California.

Over the course of the last four years, we’ve collected nearly 2,000 stories nationally from people who have either gotten an infection themselves or had a loved one affected.  Like Carole Moss being one of them.  And these are heart, just really horrible and heart-wrenching stories as you heard.  Most of the infections that occur out in the community are not so serious.  They appear as skin infections and are easily treatable.  But, in the hospital setting, of course, it’s a very different story.

To answer your earlier question posed to everybody else about whether it’s an epidemic—the occurrence of MRSA is dramatically rising.  In 1974 it was only two percent of the staph infections in the hospitals.  And in 2004, MRSA made up nearly 63 percent of staph infection.  And that’s with the bad data that we have.  In other words, not, you know, not being really well tracked.  So in the context of emergency preparedness, it’s a perfectly wise thing for y'all to study.  

In a 2006 study by the Pennsylvania Health Care  Cost Containment Council, Pennsylvania’s one of the states that’s done a terrific job over a long period of time in really gathering great data on infections and other conditions.  They found that hospital patients with MRSA infections were four times as likely to die, two times as likely to stay in the hospital longer, and charge three times more than patients without MRSA infections.  So it’s a huge cost and a strain on the health care system. 

So, I’m just going to skip ahead to our three simple steps to get us to zero—

SENATOR FLOREZ:  I would like you to submit your testimony, though.  I know you have more there, so we would—

MS. IMHOLTZ:  I think Chris has it.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, great.  Thank you.  

MS. IMHOLTZ:  First, we need to learn the scope of the problem.  You know, during the Crimean War in the 1850s, I think it was, Florence Nightingale was confronted with unsanitary conditions and widespread infections among patients and soldiers.  And she recognized 150 years ago that to curb infections, really, a key is gathering the data.  Get the statistics.  Get the information about where it’s occurring.  And in California as we’ve heard today, we still really don’t know where it’s taking place.  So first step, require hospitals to state their infection rates.  You could add in also nursing homes, dialysis centers, ambulatory care clinics.  That would give us the base to know how to attack the problem.  
Twenty states currently have infection reporting laws on the books, and actually, California was one of the first in the entire country to pass a law.  The Legislature did pass a great law in 2004, but it was vetoed.  So what we’ve got now doesn’t do the job.  Second part of that is to make the MRSA cases reportable conditions.  We’ve heard that by the county health departments.  

The second simple step, first we have to learn about them, then second is inform the public about the problem.  We’ve heard about public education.  That’s an important step, but also reporting infection rates by facility.  Get it out to the public, gives the public information to make their choices about where to get the safest care, gives payers, employers, and unions the information how to purchase the best care.  And more than that, studies have shown that it actually improves causes.  Just that act of public reporting causes internal improvement.

Third final thing, requiring hospitals to increase their prevention measures.  We heard folks earlier saying that about a third of infections acquired in the hospital are preventable.  We actually think it’s a whole lot higher than that.  And we think and others working in this field have proposed moving to zero, aiming for zero.  Make, you know, set our goals really high in order to set the mindset around.  We know there are simple measures to take like washing hands.  And we also know that only about 50 percent of providers are complying with that protocol.  So some states, three of them: Illinois, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, have passed laws just this year about setting the guidelines in place for mandatory kind of surveillance of at least certain patients.  And of course, we need the funds, also, on the state level to actually make sure we’ve got the personnel to carry all this out.

I want to close with one very short anecdote.  Few weeks ago, I got a call at our San Francisco office from an epidemiologist who said, “You’re going to be shocked to get this call from me, but we got a petition from Consumers Union from some consumers on behalf of Consumers Union asking us to track and publish our infection rates.”  And when our administrator got it, we said, uh, oh.  What are we going to do with this?  And some folks were telling us, toss it in the trash can.  And I said, you know, let’s take it on.  Let’s see what we can do.  And they did.  They took it on.  They invested, he told me, $10,000.  And after a year he said, I want to call you and tell you, we got, we’ve reduced our infections dramatically in all areas, and got rid of MRSA infections altogether.  

So, don’t let them tell you it can’t be done.  It can be done if you take it on and aim high enough.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you, very much.  

MR. TYRONE MOSS:  Okay, thank you, Senator Florez, for allowing me and my wife, Carole, to be here today.  We really appreciate that.  Just the opportunity to share and to take a look at the process here, it’s been pretty amazing.  So, I know there’s a lot of resources that you have to share and to draw from here.  It was really evident today with all the people that were here supporting their different ideas and opinions, and so forth.  So that was interesting to see.  
You know, I’m a, basically, a musician, as well as a business manager for Sprint for 20+ years.  And one of the things that I just wanted to kind of give you a quick little story about shortly, short stories that when Nile passed about a year and a half back, I told a lot of the people I work with about what had happened and so forth.  And a lot of them had never heard of MRSA.  They were going, my god, what happened?  They knew Nile, a lot of knew him real well.  
One lady that works with me, she lives in Texas.  Told her about it.  She was very attentive and paid a lot of attention when I told her.  And this was over a year ago.  She called me about a month ago.  She says, “Ty, I’ve been meaning to tell you this.”  She says, “My son, Hunter,” who’s a musician, as well, “cut his toe clipping his toenails.”  And she said, it got infected and she said a couple days later, he was on his way to school and hobbling and so forth, and she said, what’s wrong?  And he says, well, my foot’s infected and so forth.  So she said, let me see it.  So, he took his sock off and she said it was really black, the end of his toe was black and it was really bad.  

So she was concerned.  She called his doctor which was a pediatrician that he had been going to all these years.  And pediatrician told, it was on a Friday, said, soak it in Epsom salt and, you know, if it goes away, fine, but if not, you know, bring him in on Monday.  So she wasn’t happy with that, so she hung up the phone and she called her doctor, and her doctor said, well, bring him in.  

So he went in with her to her doctor and her doctor saw it and said, my god, I've got to lance this thing right away.  So they lanced it and all of this terrible stuff came out of his toe and so she says, well, do you think it’s like MRSA?  Or, you know, what do you think it is?  And the doctor stopped and looked at her and said, why are you asking that question?  You’re not in the medical profession.  So she says, well, with all the national attention and the news, she says and besides that, I have a friend of mine in California whose son died of it.

So he says, well, you know, to put your mind at ease, she says, he says I’ll do a culture and I’ll also give him a strong antibiotic.  So lo and behold, a few days later, it came back.  It was MRSA.  And she called me basically to say thank you for telling me the story.  You know, because otherwise I would have just followed my normal, you know, the pediatrician’s information and she says, so from my perspective, you know, you could have helped save his life or I don’t know.  

So the point I’m trying to make here is that we have to share these stories.  We have to share this information.  We have to do something about this.  So, again, from a business perspective, I look at this and I know it’s very complex dealing with all the different people that are, you know, have different opinions and ideas.  But, we do have an issue here and I think we all recognize it is a problem, and we need to do something about it.  I commend you for pulling this together and standing up.
SENATOR FLOREZ:  Well, thank you.  Thanks for coming.  And thanks for the story.  That story helps ____.  I appreciate that.  

DR. STEPHEN WILMARTH:  I’m Dr. Stephen Wilmarth.  I’m an eye surgeon.  I practice up in Roseville.  And I work for ophthalmic development with NovaBay Pharmaceuticals.  They’re located down in Emeryville, and this is an areas that we have a great deal of interest.  I’ll keep my points brief since everybody’s done a great job of bringing up all the issues.  And you don’t need to hear them again.  But, last year we had $20 billion spent for hospital acquired infections.  One point four to two million got them, and 90,000 people died.  
What we have now is sort of analogous to a hurricane that might be out in the middle of the Atlantic.  It hasn’t quite hit, yet.  But, you can see it from the satellites.  And so what you guys are doing to prepare is extremely important.  One of the major problems as you look forward, though, is that big pharma is not producing new antimicrobials.  Their pipelines have shrunk down.  One of the reasons is that resistance rapidly develops to most of the antimicrobials out there.  So, they don’t have a financial interest in moving forward with these things.  
Now NovaBay is based in Emeryville and we’ve developed a new line of antimicrobials that are called the Aganocides.  They are not injected.  They’re not taken by mouth.  But, they work on the surface and they’re almost non-toxic to human tissue.  Now last year we brought in a contract with Alcon which is the world’s largest ophthalmic company, to bring out our antimicrobials for eyes, ears, and sinuses.  We have the same thing now set up with KCI which is the world’s biggest wound care company.  These companies understand that resistance won’t develop to our compounds, because these compounds are based on the same chemicals in your white blood cells that kill the germs.  And obviously we haven’t developed resistance there.  
So, looking ahead at the areas of interest to us, you’ve heard all about catheters and ICUs and so forth.  What’s going on there in a microbiological perspective is simply the germs are gaining permanent entry to the body, because there’s a breach in the skin.  So the areas that we’re interested in working on are blood stream infections.  It would be associated with catheters.  The germs are on the outside and the inside of the catheters.  Pneumonias—we have heard a horrible story about that today.  Urinary tract—we’re filing with the FDA for urinary tract solutions, and surgical site infections.  Part of that is nasal decolonization.  Eighty percent of the surgical site infections that have problems in the hospital, the germs come from the nose of the individuals having surgery.  

So basically, we’re working on the next generation of this.  And we’re looking for cooperation and partnership with industry, with population, and with the government, so as a team, we can overcome this.  Now it’s interesting, she brought up a number of points that I thought were fascinating and a lot of them I was going to mention to you.  And one of them I have right here, and it’s Pennsylvania.  And it’s a hospital chain there has estimated that 9.2 billion would have been spent last year in Pennsylvania to cover the cost of hospital acquired infections.  Medicare is going to require as of October, 2008, that every institution that generates a hospital acquired infection pays for the treatment of that individual.  This is going to be big time stuff. 
And on top of that, the hospitals are going to have to report these things.  So there’s going to be public scrutiny about what’s going on with the infection rate in hospitals.  This is ground zero for infections.  And there’s going to be financial repercussions, also.  

So people are moving quickly to do something about this and I hope we can be part of the solution.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Thank you very much.  And thank you.

MR. MOSS:  Absolutely.  Thank you.

SENATOR FLOREZ:  Okay, we’re going to adjourn the Senate G.O. Committee.  Transcript will be available shortly.  As soon as we can get it done, give us couple weeks.  And while, yeah, about a couple weeks.  And I do want to thank everyone for coming and the time, and very much appreciate it.  So we’ll adjourn.  
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